CRITICAL AREAS ORDINANCE UPDATE KITSAP COUNTY

MAY 31, 2023

Prepared for: Kitsap County Department of Community Development





Title-page image: Chico Creek.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION1			
	1.1	Background		
	1.2	Best Available Science	1	
		1.2.1 Climate Change	2	
	1.3	Report structure	3	
2	WETLANDS			
	2.1	Definition/Description	3	
	2.2	Functions & Values	3	
		2.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values	3	
		2.2.2 Additional BAS	5	
	2.3	Climate Change BAS	8	
3	FISH & WILDLIFE HABITAT CONSERVATION AREAS9			
	3.1	Definition/Description	9	
	3.2	Functions & Values	10	
		3.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values	10	
		3.2.2 Additional BAS	19	
	3.3	Climate Change BAS	20	
4	GEOLOGICALLY HAZARDOUS AREAS			
	4.1	Definition/Description	20	
	4.2	Functions & Values	21	
		4.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values	21	
	4.3	Additional BAS	24	
	4.4	Climate Change BAS	24	
5	FREQUENTLY FLOODED AREAS25			
	5.1	Definition/Description	25	
	5.2	Functions & Values	25	
		5.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values	25	
		5.2.2 Additional BAS	26	
	5.3	Climate Change BAS	26	
6	CRITICAL AQUIFER RECHARGE AREAS28			
	6.1	6.1 Definition/Description		
	6.2	Functions & Values	29	
		6.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values	29	
		6.2.2 Additional BAS	31	
	6.3	Climate Change BAS		

7	REFERENCES			33
	7.1	Introduction		
	7.2	Wetla	nds	34
		7.2.1	General	34
		7.2.2	Additional BAS	35
		7.2.3	Climate Change BAS	36
	7.3	Fish &	Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas	37
		7.3.1	General	37
		7.3.2	Additional BAS	44
		7.3.3	Climate Change BAS	44
	7.4	Geologically Hazardous Areas		44
		7.4.1	General	44
		7.4.2	Additional BAS	46
		7.4.3	Climate Change BAS	46
	7.5	Frequ	ently Flooded Areas	47
		7.5.1	General	47
		7.5.2	Additional BAS	48
		7.5.3	Climate Change BAS	48
	7.6	Critica	al Aquifer Recharge Areas	50
		7.6.1	General	50
		7.6.2	Additional BAS	51
		7.6.3	Climate Change BAS	51

LIST OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit 2-1	Ecology wetland buffer Option 16
Exhibit 2-2	Ecology wetland buffer Option 27
Exhibit 2-3	Ecology wetland buffer Option 37

A U T H O R S

Mark Daniel, Senior Planner. B.A. Kinesiology, B.A. Economics/Environmental Studies, Master of Urban Planning. American Institute of Certified Planners.

Greg Johnston, Senior Fisheries Biologist. B.S. Civil Engineering, M.Sc. Fisheries Biology. Certified Fisheries Professional, Engineer in Training Certificate.

Clover McIngalls, Environmental Planner/Ecologist. B.S. Environmental Science, M.Sc. Marine Affairs. Wetland Science and Management Certificate, Society of Wetland Scientists – Professional Wetland Scientist #2630.

Dan Nickel, Environmental Engineer. B.S. Biology. M.Sc. Environmental Science.

Alexandra Plumb, Environmental Planner. B.S. Oceanography, Marine Biology.

Al Wald, Hydrogeologist. B.S. Renewable Natural Resource Management, M.S. Forest Hydrology. Licensed Hydrogeologist.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

Kitsap County is currently performing the periodic update of its Comprehensive Plan and development regulations as required by the Washington State Growth Management Act (GMA). The GMA requires all local jurisdictions to review and evaluate their critical areas ordinance (CAO) as part of the periodic update.

Kitsap County's CAO is codified in Title 19 of the Kitsap County Code (KCC). The County's last periodic update of its CAO was completed in 2017.

Critical areas subject to regulation under GMA include wetlands, areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable water, fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, frequently flooded areas, and geologically hazardous areas (Revised Code of Washington [RCW] 36.70A.030(6)).

In developing regulations to protect the functions and values of these critical areas, the GMA requires that best available science (BAS) be included, and "special consideration" be given to conservation or protection measures necessary to preserve or enhance anadromous fisheries.

This BAS Summary Report has been prepared specifically to support the update of Kitsap County's CAO. Building upon and supplementing the County's existing record of BAS, this report highlights recent additional BAS, including BAS related to climate change.

A companion document to this BAS Summary Report is the Consistency and Gap Analysis Report (DCG/Watershed 2023). The Consistency and Gap Analysis Report identifies where the BAS presented in this BAS Summary Report is already applied in the current CAO, or how it might be incorporated in the County's CAO during this periodic update.

1.2 BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE

Chapter 365-195 of the Washington Administrative Code (WAC) addresses the subject of BAS.

BAS documents are those prepared by qualified scientific experts and follow a valid scientific process. The scientific process, which produces reliable information, is generally characterized by peer review, standardized methods, logical conclusions and reasonable inferences, quantitative analysis, proper context, and references. Common sources of

scientific information include research, monitoring, inventory, modeling, assessment, and synthesis (WAC 365-195-905).

While the body of scientific knowledge pertaining to critical areas continues to evolve as new studies are conducted and new technologies are employed, BAS may not always provide decisive information for developing policies and development regulations to protect the functions and values of critical areas. Where the scientific literature shows variable methods or results, a range of values may be provided.

In some cases, incomplete scientific information or an absence of valid scientific information may lead to uncertainty about what development and land uses could lead to harm of critical areas or uncertainty about the risk to critical area functions of permitting development. In such cases, in accordance with WAC 365-195-920, a precautionary or no risk approach should be taken in which development and land use activities are strictly limited until the uncertainty is sufficiently resolved. In the interim, local jurisdictions can implement an adaptive management program that relies on scientific methods.

The BAS documents in this report were selected based on their significance to conditions in Kitsap County, common use in scientific discipline, and relevance to current scientific practices or principles.

1.2.1 Climate Change

Climate change is projected to strain critical areas and the functions they provide; this poses a challenge for natural resource management (Mote et al. 2014). This report includes a review of known climate change issues affecting each type of critical area.

Anthropogenic global climate change is projected to impact climatic variation and natural resources in the Pacific Northwest. Climate models project annual temperature increases totaling 3.2 degrees Fahrenheit by the 2040s (Mote & Salathe 2010). At current rates of warming, global warming may exceed 2.7 degrees Fahrenheit (1.5 degrees Celsius) by 2030 (Snover et al. 2019). Modeled changes include reduced regional snowpack, reduced summer water supply, and a greater frequency and duration of extreme weather events including flooding and high temperatures (Mauger et al. 2015). As described in the *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment* (Kitsap County et al. 2020), Kitsap County's relative sea level is largely projected to rise by 2100, with a range from -0.1 feet to 2.7 feet.

Climate change studies and modelling continue to provide information about what changes to expect globally and in the Pacific Northwest. However, climate change is a complex issue and guidance on how best to manage critical areas in a changing environment is continually evolving.

1.3 REPORT STRUCTURE

This report features a section for each of the critical area types subject to regulation under the GMA. For each type of critical area, the report includes:

- A definition/description of the critical area;
- A summary of the functions and values provided by the critical area, including a discussion of recent additional BAS; and
- A summary of BAS related to climate change.

2 WETLANDS

2.1 DEFINITION/DESCRIPTION

Wetlands are dynamic environments characterized by seasonally or permanently wet areas. Wetlands also have anaerobic hydric soil indicators and water-dependent or water-tolerant plant species.

RCW 36.70A.030(31) defines "wetlands" as follows:

"Wetland" or "wetlands" means those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or groundwater at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas. Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from nonwetland sites, including, but not limited to, irrigation and drainage ditches, grass-lined swales, canals, storm water facilities, wastewater treatment facilities, farm ponds, and landscape amenities, or those wetlands created after July 1, 1990, that were unintentionally created as a result of the construction of a road, street, or highway. Wetlands may include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from nonwetland areas created to mitigate conversion of wetlands.

2.2 FUNCTIONS & VALUES

2.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values

The capacity of an individual wetland to perform functions is dependent upon multiple factors, including the wetland landform or hydrogeomorphic class. For example, wetlands

on slopes have less potential to store water relative to depressional wetlands. Wetland functions are also dependent on the geomorphic and hydrologic characteristics of each wetland (Brinson 1993, Hruby 2014). Other factors that impact wetland functions are landscape setting, vegetation structure, hydroperiods, proximity to potential sources of pollution, and priority habitat corridors and connectivity. Wetlands naturally perform several functions at low cost relative to engineered solutions, such as water storage, flood protection, water reserve, pollutant and nutrient retention, and provisional fisheries habitat; these are valued as human services (Hattermann et al. 2008).

For regulatory purposes, wetland functions and values are commonly ranked in a rating system. The current BAS-based rapid assessment tool for wetland functions is the *Washington State Wetland Rating System for Western Washington* (Hruby 2014) developed by the Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). The Ecology wetland rating system broadly groups wetland functional values into three categories: 1) water quality functions, 2) flood storage or hydrologic functions, and 3) habitat functions (Sheldon et al. 2005, Hruby 2014). The functional score for each category is ranked as high, medium, or low. Each category assesses site potential to perform each function, relative to landscape setting, and value to society.

2.2.1.1 Water Quality

Wetlands improve water quality by intercepting runoff, retaining inorganic nutrients, converting organic wastes, settling sediment, and removing contaminants (Sheldon et al. 2005). Wetlands perform these functions to varying degrees depending on several factors including residence time of polluted waters, vegetation structure and density, and soil composition (Hruby 2014). Wetlands uptake nutrients, particularly nitrogen and phosphorus, and protect downstream areas from nutrient spikes. Wetland plants and microorganisms are known to uptake or remove nitrogen through the biochemical processes of nitrification and denitrification, which occur in aerobic and anaerobic conditions, respectively (Sheldon et al. 2005). According to Kerr et al. (2008), low oxygen concentrations that are common to wetland environments also make them particularly good sinks for copper. Studies of constructed wetlands have shown wetland plants remediate pharmaceuticals and personal care products to various extents and provide some phytoremediation (Wang et al. 2019, Zhang et al. 2014). Some wetlands may also help improve water guality by regulating stream temperature. A recent study by Dittbrenner et al. (2022) looked at changes in temperature and water storage following relocation of beaver into headwater stream reaches. Beaver activity is known to create wetland complexes that can alter aquatic ecosystems. The study found that the creation of beaver wetland complexes has the potential to decrease stream temperatures.

2.2.1.2 Hydrologic

Hydrologic wetland functions include groundwater recharge, reduction in peak surface water flows, reduced stream erosion, and flood-flow desynchronization (Sheldon et al. 2005). Flood-flow desynchronization is a landscape-scale process within a watershed where stored water is slowly released down-gradient after being retained in surface or groundwater (Hruby et al. 2009, Adamus et al. 1991). This has a cumulative impact on magnitude and intensity of peak flow events (Sheldon et al. 2005).

Increased impervious surface area within a drainage basin commonly alters wetland hydrology by increasing or decreasing flows from the surrounding landscape (Sheldon et al. 2005). Such wetland hydrology changes are linked to other negative urbanization effects, such as stream channel erosion downcutting and disconnection, sediment deposition, and altered seasonal water regimes (Sheldon et al. 2005). Changes in wetland ponding depths, seasonal hydroperiods, or water level flux can also impact wetland plant communities (Schueler 2000).

2.2.1.3 Wildlife Habitat

A diverse group of fauna depends on wetlands for at least a portion of their life cycle, including wetland-associated mammals, waterfowl, fish, invertebrates, reptiles and amphibians (Kauffman et al. 2001, Sheldon et al. 2005). Several factors including buffer width and condition, vegetative structure, habitat interspersion, wetland hydroperiods, and landscape setting all impact wetland habitat functions (Hruby 2014). A study of wetland and non-wetland landscape matrix quality on wetland vertebrates found that while species abundance generally increases in landscapes with more wetland areas, some species are more sensitive to the larger landscape condition, such as amphibians (Quesnelle et al. 2015). For example, native amphibian species richness has been negatively correlated with urban landscape attributes (Guderyahn et al. 2016).

Cumulative impacts of direct and indirect wetland alterations, including hydrologic changes, compromised water quality, and habitat fragmentation tend to reduce the habitat functions and values a wetland provides (Sheldon et al. 2005). Urban and rural development commonly reduces wetland buffering and increases encroachment by people and pets.

2.2.2 Additional BAS

Ecology's latest wetland guidance for CAO updates was issued in October 2022 (Ecology 2022). The guidance provides three BAS-based options for wetland buffer tables.

Ecology's preferred option, Option 1, provides the most flexibility and site-specific buffers. This option considers habitat score and includes the potential to reduce the buffer through provision of a habitat corridor and implementation of minimization measures to reduce the level of impact from the adjacent land use. Use of the lowest buffer widths under this option, shown in Exhibit 2-1 below, requires the implementation of minimization measures. If an applicant chooses not to apply the applicable minimization measures, then an approximately 33% increase in the width of all buffers is required. Note that to use the reduced widths in Exhibit 2-1, the protection of a wildlife corridor is also required between higher functioning wetlands that score six or more habitat points and certain other protected areas. If this cannot be provided, then the non-reduced (33% increase) buffer would be required for those higher functioning wetlands.

Wetland Category	Habitat Score 3-5 Points	Habitat Score 6-7 Points	Habitat Score 8-9 Points	Buffer Width Based on Special Characteristics
Category I & II: Based on rating of functions (and not listed below)	75	110	225	NA
Category I: Bogs and Wetlands of High Conservation Value	NA	NA	225	190
Category I: Interdunal	NA	NA	225	NA
Category I: Forested	75	110	225	NA
Category I: Estuarine and wetlands in coastal lagoons	NA	NA	NA	150
Category II: Interdunal	NA	NA	NA	110
Category II: Estuarine and wetlands in coastal lagoons	NA	NA	NA	110
Category III: All types except interdunal	60	110	225	NA
Category III: Interdunal	NA	NA	NA	60
Category IV	40	40	40	NA

Exhibit 2-1 Ecology wetland buffer Option 1

Ecology buffer Option 2, shown in Exhibit 2-2 below, is based on wetland category and the level of impact from the adjacent proposed or existing land use. This option necessitates inclusion of a table with levels of impacts from proposed land use types.

Exhibit 2-2 Ecology \	wetland buffer Option 2
-----------------------	-------------------------

Wetland Category	Land Use Impact			
	Low	Moderate	High	
I	150	225	300	
II	150	225	300	
111	75	110	150	
IV	25	40	50	

Ecology buffer Option 3, shown in Exhibit 2-3 below, is based solely on the category of wetland. It is the simplest to administer; however, it is the least flexible.

Exhibit 2-3 Ecology wetland buffer Option 3

Wetland Category	Buffer
I	300
II	300
III	150
IV	50

As discussed above, Ecology buffer Option 1 includes the option of reducing the buffer through provision of a habitat corridor and implementation of minimization measures to reduce the level of impact from the adjacent land use. Ecology's 2022 guidance has updated the language for habitat corridor requirements. While the overall concept remains the same, more detail and clarification is provided on what a "legally protected, relatively undisturbed and vegetated area" is and what buffer would be required if the applicant is unable to provide a corridor.

Current BAS does not support additional buffer reductions beyond the habitat corridor/minimization measures reduction to reduce the level of impact from adjacent land use described above. In the past it was common to allow a buffer reduction with enhancement of existing, degraded buffer. However, Ecology's current buffer recommendations are based on a buffer that is already well vegetated. If the existing buffer area is not currently vegetated in a manner to provide the necessary buffer function, then the buffer area should be planted, or the buffer width should be increased. Reducing buffer area in these circumstances is a high-risk approach to protecting wetland functions and values.

2.3 CLIMATE CHANGE BAS

Wetlands play an important role in creating and maintaining community and ecosystem resilience to climate change. Coastal wetlands help protect communities by buffering shorelines from erosion and reducing flooding by holding back floodwaters and reducing the rate that water enters downstream waterbodies. As sea levels rise, coastal wetlands may adapt by migrating landward. However, when the presence of coastal development blocks the path for such migration, wetlands can be lost. This is commonly known as "coastal squeeze" and is identified as a particular risk to low-lying coastal communities in Kitsap County in the *Kitsap County Climate Impact Resiliency Assessment* (Kitsap County et al. 2020).

Wetlands are dynamic and highly productive ecosystems that provide water quality, hydrologic, and habitat functions. Wetlands, like riparian corridors, also provide microclimate functions. Microclimate functions can provide some refuge from higher temperatures and habitat for species affected by climate-related impacts. Wetlands can provide corridors for the movement of species whose range may be shifting in response to climate impacts, as well as refuge for species needing wetter conditions in drought-prone areas (ASWM 2015, Ecology n.d.). Additionally, wetlands help offset climate change through carbon storage. Wetlands store carbon both in organic soil and tree biomass. Carbon storage in undisturbed wetlands is approximately twice as high as carbon storage in wetlands disturbed by human-driven land use changes (Nahlik 2016, Ecology n.d.). Bogs are important carbon sinks that are highly sensitive to disturbance, particularly stormwater discharges and changes in pH.

Wetlands provide several beneficial ecological and economic benefits to Kitsap County. Benefits may include flood control, filtration of contaminants, groundwater recharge, fish and wildlife habitat and recreation activities (KCDCD 2017). Changes to wetland compositions and biodiversity can have direct impacts on available area for habitat and can negatively impact Kitsap County's water resources because of reduced groundwater recharge.

Climate-driven changes in hydrologic patterns and temperatures may cause hydroperiods of saturation or inundation in wetlands to change. This may cause some wetlands to lose seasonal ponding characteristics or to dry up entirely, whereas other wetlands may experience increased ponding (Halabisky 2017, Ecology n.d.). As described in the *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment* (Kitsap County et al. 2020), increased evaporation rates and decreased water quality associated with climate change impacts can reduce the overall area of wetlands and threaten associated amphibian species. Wetland amphibians are cold-blooded and are subsequently highly sensitive to changes in water temperatures (Mauger et al. 2015). The anticipated impacts to water quality and quantity will likely increase the mortality of these species and cause impacts to downstream ecosystems, including food systems.

Although wetlands are dynamic by nature, their ability to adapt to change is limited. Alterations in stormwater runoff conditions and changes to seasonal wetland hydrologic cycles can reduce the ability of wetland soil bacteria and plants to retain, process, and sequester pollutants (U.S. EPA 2015, Ecology n.d.). Native plant species distribution is being impacted by climate change; adaptive potential and climate tolerance for native plant species are being studied in the scientific community (Vose et al. 2012).

3 FISH & WILDLIFE HABITAT CONSERVATION AREAS

3.1 DEFINITION/DESCRIPTION

The WAC defines "fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas" and makes associated definitional clarifications as follows (WAC 365-190-030(6)):

(a) "Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas" are areas that serve a critical role in sustaining needed habitats and species for the functional integrity of the ecosystem, and which, if altered, may reduce the likelihood that the species will persist over the long term. These areas may include, but are not limited to, rare or vulnerable ecological systems, communities, and habitat or habitat elements including seasonal ranges, breeding habitat, winter range, and movement corridors; and areas with high relative population density or species richness. Counties and cities may also designate locally important habitats and species.

(b) "Habitats of local importance" designated as fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas include those areas found to be locally important by counties and cities.

(c) "Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas" does not include artificial features or constructs as irrigation delivery systems, irrigation infrastructure, irrigation canals, or drainage ditches that lie within the boundaries of, and are maintained by, a port district or an irrigation district or company.

3.2 FUNCTIONS & VALUES

3.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values

Critical areas regulated as fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas are interdependent. Natural disturbances, including floods, landslides, and channel migration, are part of temporal and spatial dynamics that support formation of habitat niches and associated ecological diversity (Naiman et al. 1993). Land use can significantly alter the frequency and intensity of disturbance events (Felipe-Lucia et al. 2020); such events may become common.

3.2.1.1 Streams & Riparian Areas

Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife defines riparian ecosystems as:

...transitional between terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems and are distinguished by gradients in biophysical conditions, ecological processes, and biota. They are areas through which surface and subsurface hydrology connect waterbodies with their adjacent uplands. They include those portions of terrestrial ecosystem that significantly influence exchanges of energy and matter with aquatic ecosystems (Quinn et al. 2020).

High impervious surface area cover is correlated with increased high flows, increased variability in daily stream flow, reduced groundwater recharge, and reduced summer low flow conditions (Konrad & Booth 2005, Cuo et al. 2009). Untreated and uncontrolled stormwater from impervious surface areas can increase stream flows and decrease the capacity and function of riparian buffers to reduce pollutants (Quinn et al. 2020). Changes in hydrology related to development are generally associated with soil compaction, draining, ditching, increased impervious surface cover and decreased forest cover (Booth et al. 2002, Moore & Wondzell 2005). Direct water withdrawals from groundwater or surface water, or overall reductions of floodplains are considered barriers to fish and wildlife movement and can result in fragmentation of habitat (Quinn et al. 2020). Together, these changes reduce infiltration, evapotranspiration, and groundwater storage. Further, these changes reduce flow desynchronization and flows tend to be more variable and volatile.

Specific stream and riparian area functions are discussed below.

Recruitment of Large Woody Debris

Large woody debris plays a significant role in geomorphic functions such as directing stream flows to shape channel form and influencing sediment storage, transport and deposition rates. The many effects of large wood create a variety of channel morphologies—dam pools, plunge pools, riffles, glides, undercut banks, and side channels, which provide a diversity of aquatic habitats (Quinn et al. 2020). As large woody debris is seldom transported by small and headwater streams, accumulated obstructions cause alterations in hydrology and geomorphology (Knutson & Naef 1997). Instream large wood provides for a wider range of flow velocities, in turn resulting in a diversity of aquatic habitats resulting from pool formation, streambed scour, sediment deposition, and channel migration (Quinn et al. 2020). These instream structures play an important role in forming complex in-water habitat structures, increasing water residence time, and subsequently retaining small debris and related organic material.

This process provides flow refugia and essential cover and improved foraging conditions for fish. The accumulated organic materials provide a substrate for microbes and algae as a food source for macroinvertebrates and other aquatic life (Bolton & Shellberg 2001). Through food webs, food is supplied by this process to fish and, ultimately, their predators including birds and mammals. Large wood provides the downward scour necessary for streams to create pools and protective cover for fish in those pools. Pools provide rearing habitat for juvenile fish and resting space for adults. Large wood that partially blocks flow can also help to encourage hyporheic flow through the streambed substrate (Poole & Berman 2001, Wondzell et al. 2009). Such flow within the streambed substrate is important to bring oxygen to incubating salmonid fish eggs and aquatic insects.

Beaver dams incorporate both small and large wood, and serve to slow water, retain sediment, and create pools and off-channel ponds used by rearing coho salmon and cutthroat trout (Pollock et al. 2004). Removal of these structures throughout history has been linked to a significant reduction in coho salmon summer and winter rearing habitat (Pollock et al. 2004). This is further supported by a study (Pollock et. al 2013) that concluded that encouraging long-lived beaver dams could be a low-cost method to produce measurable improvement in riparian and stream habitats, and consequently increase abundance of native steelhead.

The Washington State Legislature has found that "beavers have historically played a significant role in maintaining the health of watersheds in the Pacific Northwest and act as key agents in riparian ecology." (RCW 77.32.585). Further:

The benefits of active beaver populations include reduced stream sedimentation, stream temperature moderation, higher dissolved oxygen levels, overall improved water quality, increased natural water storage capabilities within watersheds, and reduced stream velocities. These benefits improve and create habitat for many other species, including endangered salmon, river otters, sandhill cranes, trumpeter swans, and other riparian and aquatic species.

Shade & Microclimate

Riparian vegetation contributes to reduced stream temperatures and improved microclimate conditions, which are closely tied to each other. Factors influencing water temperature and microclimate include shade, orientation, relative humidity, ambient air temperature, wind, channel dimensions, groundwater, and overhead cover. Significant increases in maximum stream temperatures have been documented in association with the removal of riparian vegetation (Murray et al. 2000, Moore et al. 2005, Gomi et al. 2006).

Salmon and other native freshwater fish require cool waters (55-68 degrees Fahrenheit) for migrating, rearing, spawning, incubation, and emergence (U.S. EPA 2003). Specifically, salmonids require less than or equal to 60 degrees Fahrenheit (15.6 degrees Celsius) for survival and productivity (Quinn et al. 2020). However, thermal tolerances differ by species. For example, amphibians have narrow thermal tolerances and are particularly influenced by changes in microclimate conditions (Bury 2008). Riparian microclimate affects many ecological processes and functions, including plant growth, decomposition, nutrient cycling, succession, productivity, migration and dispersal of flying insects, soil microbe activity, and fish and amphibian habitat (Brosofske et al. 1997).

Riparian management zones help maintain forest microclimates, which are controlled by edge effects, which tend to extend well into forested areas adjacent to clearings. Accordingly, riparian management zones that range from approximately 30-145 feet in width may minimize microclimate effects related to light, soil, and air temperatures.

Bank Integrity

Vegetated riparian zones help to stabilize stream banks and have mechanical and hydrologic effects on bank stability (Quinn et al. 2020). Riparian vegetation helps provide bank stabilization through a complex of tree roots, brush, and soil/rock. Woody vegetation tends to provide greater bank stability than herbaceous vegetation because woody vegetation has larger roots that extend deeper into the streambank (Wynn & Mostaghimi 2006). Bank stabilization functions are at a higher risk of degradation in urbanized watersheds. As with sediment reduction, the streambank stabilization functions of vegetation increase with buffer width¹ out to approximately 80-100 feet; after this point, disproportionately large increases are needed to improve riparian function (Castelle & Johnson 1998). While natural bank stabilization is important to prevent mass wasting events, some bank erosion is critical to maintaining a natural streambed composition and preventing subsurface low flows from an over-coarsened stream bed. Maintaining a

¹ One of the important functions that Riparian Management Zones serve is to buffer streams from the impacts of development; thus, the term "stream buffer" has traditionally been used interchangeably with RMZ when referring to RMZ buffer functions and is used commonly throughout the literature.

vegetated riparian zone helps prevent the need for structural stabilization measures that may interrupt natural bank erosion and reduce the recruitment of natural streambed sediment.

Runoff Filtration & Nutrient Inputs (Water Quality)

Water quality is characterized by several physical, chemical, and biological factors, including suspended sediment, nutrients, metals, pathogens, herbicides and pesticides, and other pollutants. Water quality characteristics are controlled by upslope, as well as riparian conditions. Riparian areas have consistently shown an ability to remove pollutants through filtration, but their effectiveness is variable based on complex and interconnected factors. The function of pollutant removal differs from the other ecological functions because here the primary focus is on mitigating activities that occur outside the riparian area and the function is necessary only in the presence of human activities that generate polluted water and when runoff from upland activities threaten to degrade water quality (Quinn et al. 2020).

When development results in reduced infiltration and increased surface flows, sediment and contaminants are transported more directly to receiving bodies without interfacing with natural soil filtration and flow attenuation processes. Because of this, urban areas tend to contribute a disproportionate amount of sediment and contaminants to receiving waters relative to the percentage of urbanized area within the watershed (Sorrano et al. 1996). Heavy metals, bacterial pathogens, as well as polychlorinated biphenyls, hydrocarbons, and endocrine-disrupting chemicals are aquatic contaminants that are commonly associated with urban and agricultural land uses.

The full suite of sublethal and indirect effects of these contaminants and combinations of contaminants on aquatic organisms is not fully understood (Fleeger et al. 2003). Likely some contaminants with potentially severe repercussions for fish and wildlife have yet to be identified. For example, research in the Puget Sound region has found that mature coho salmon returning to urban creeks are experiencing mortality prior to spawning from a stormwater-linked condition called urban runoff mortality syndrome (Tian et. al 2022). The specific cause of the condition has been recently attributed to 6PPD-quinone, a breakdown product of tire wear (Tian et al. 2022). Coho pre-spawn mortality is most positively correlated with traffic and road density (Tian et al. 2022). To address impacts from 6PPD-quinone, Ecology has published *6PPD in Road Runoff, Assessment and Mitigation Strategies* (2022).

The following water quality subsections closely follow those provided in *Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 1: Science Synthesis and Management Implications* from Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (Quinn et al. 2020).

Sediment

While natural sediment recruitment is important for maintaining stream health, excess inputs of fine sediments into stream channels reduce habitat quality for fish, amphibians, and macroinvertebrates. Highly turbid water can impair fertilization success in spawning salmonids (Galbraith et al. 2006) and interfere with respiration and reproduction in amphibians (Knutson et al. 2004). Fine sediments that settle out of the water column can smother gravel and cobble streambeds that are essential habitat for salmonid spawning and benthic macroinvertebrates.

Excessive sediment loads can significantly degrade water quality and serve as a transport mechanism for other pollutants, carrying attached contaminants from upland sources to the stream channel. Suspended sediment can cause gill abrasion in fish and interfere with foraging and predator avoidance (Quinn et al. 2020).

Sediment input to streams is supplied by bed and bank erosion, landslides, and upland erosion processes. These processes occur naturally at background levels but are also associated with and accelerated by forest practices and development activities. Other contaminants, including heavy metals and phosphorus, readily bind to suspended clay particles, and these contaminants are often transported with fine sediment in stormwater runoff. Excess inputs of fine sediments into a stream channel reduce habitat quality for fish, amphibians, and macroinvertebrates. Fine sediment adversely affects stream habitat by filling pools, embedding gravels, reducing gravel permeability, and increasing turbidity.

Vegetated riparian zones help stabilize stream banks, slow and filter overland flow, and temporarily store sediment that is gradually released to both seasonal and perennial streams. Sediment filtration is also high within intermittent and ephemeral streams, presumably because of the high interface with vegetative structures and the flux in water surface elevation, which allows for sediment storage along the streambanks (Dietrich & Anderson 1998).

In addition to width, the slope, vegetation density, and sediment composition of a riparian area have significant bearing on sediment filtration potential (Jin & Romkens 2001). Multiple studies have found that larger particles tend to settle out within the first 10-20 feet of the riparian zone, but finer particles that tend to degrade instream habitat, such as silt and clay, need a larger riparian zone, ranging from approximately 150-400 feet, for significant retention (Parkyn 2004).

Vegetative composition within the buffer also affects sediment retention. Vegetation tends to become more effective at sediment and nutrient filtration several years after establishment for both grass and forested buffers (Dosskey et al. 2007). Thin-stemmed grasses may become overwhelmed by overland flow while dense, rigid-stemmed vegetation provides improved sediment filtration that is expected to continue to function better over successive storm events (Blanco-Canqui et al. 2006, Yuan et al. 2009).

Excess Nutrients

Established vegetation in a dense composition can provide effective sediment and nutrient filtration (Dosskey et al. 2007). Riparian zones can also reduce nitrogen pollution through nutrient uptake, assimilation by vegetation and denitrification (Sobota et al. 2012). In excess concentrations, nitrogen and phosphorus can lead to poor water quality conditions, including reduced dissolved oxygen rates, increased pH, and eutrophication (Mayer et al. 2005, Mayer et al. 2007). Excessive amounts of nitrogen and phosphorus speed up eutrophication and algal blooms in receiving waters, which can deplete dissolved oxygen in the water and result in poor water quality and fish kills (Mayer et al. 2005, Simenstad et al. 2006, Heisler et al. 2008).

Riparian zones can reduce nitrogen pollution through nutrient uptake, assimilation by vegetation and through denitrification (Sobota et al. 2012). The rate of nitrogen removal from runoff varies considerably depending on local conditions, including soil composition, surface versus subsurface flow, riparian zone width, riparian vegetation composition and climate factors (Mayer et al. 2005, Bernal et al. 2007, Mayer et al. 2007). Nutrient assimilation is also dependent on the location of vegetation relative to the nitrogen source, the flow path of surface runoff, and position in the landscape (Baker et al. 2006). There is significant evidence to support that riparian buffers effectively reduce non-point source water pollution, and the width of riparian buffer is the most important variable in the efficiency of pollutant removal (Quinn et al. 2020).

Nutrients enter waterways through channelized runoff, groundwater flow, and overland flow. Nitrogen loading is often associated with agricultural activities, whereas low-density residential development has been found to result in nitrate levels comparable to a forested basin (Poor & McDonnell 2007). Removal of phosphorus by riparian buffers is dependent on the form of phosphorus entering the buffer. Whereas phosphorus that is adsorbed by soil particles is effectively removed through sediment retention within a buffer, the retention of soluble phosphorus relies on infiltration and uptake by plants (Polyakov et al. 2005). Subsequently, if a riparian buffer becomes saturated with phosphorus, its capacity for soluble phosphorus removal will be more limited (Polyakov et al. 2005).

The size and species composition of the riparian zone also affects the efficiency of nutrient removal, but studies are conflicting as to whether grass, wetland, herbaceous, or forested buffers are most effective at removing nutrients (Polyakov et al. 2005). Where nitrogen-fixing species predominate, such as red alder, these buffers tend to have higher soil nitrate concentrations (Monohan 2004).

In summary, most riparian zones reduce subsurface nutrient loading, but extensive distances are needed to reduce nutrients in surface runoff. Filtration capacity decreases with increasing loads (Mayer et al. 2005), so best management practices across the landscape that reduce nutrient loading will improve riparian function.

Metals

Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 1: Science Synthesis and Management Implications indicates that riparian buffers effectively reduce nonpoint source water pollution for a variety of metals and pollutants (Quinn et al. 2020). Riparian buffer width is considered the most important variable in the efficacy of pollutant removal followed by vegetation structure and composition. Although most metals can be toxic at high concentrations, cadmium, mercury, copper, zinc, and lead are particularly toxic even at low concentrations. Chronic and acute exposure to heavy metals have been found to impair, injure, and kill aquatic organisms (Kakade et. al 2023). A review of contaminant effects on aquatic organisms summarized the factors affecting the toxicity of metals as follows: duration and concentration of exposure; form of the metal at the time of exposure; synergistic, additive, or antagonistic interactions of co-occurring contaminants; species sensitivity; life stage; physiological ability to detoxify and/or excrete the metal; and the condition of the exposed organism.

In general, heavy metals enter the aquatic ecosystem through one of four main sources: agriculture, industries, mining, or livestock (Kakade et. al 2023). Heavy metals and contaminants can also reach aquatic ecosystems and streams through existing stormwater systems. Stormwater systems that circumvent buffers limit the opportunity to filter runoff through adjoining soils and vegetation. Accordingly, current stream buffers are typically underutilized for the treatment of metals, hydrocarbons and other pollutants found in typical stormwater runoff.

Copper brake pad dust has been linked to chronically depressed Chinook salmon populations, particularly young salmon (U.S. EPA 2007). The U.S. EPA is working to reduce the use of copper and other heavy metals in motor vehicle brake pads through the Copper-Free Brake Initiative (U.S. EPA 2015). The Washington State Legislature passed a law in 2010 that requires manufacturers to reduce the use of toxic materials in brakes and shoes. The law required asbestos and several metals to be phased out in 2015 with a schedule for copper. Under the Better Brakes Washington Law, vehicle brake pads manufactured after 2021 must contain less than 5% copper by weight and must contain less than 0.5% copper by 2025. Ecology estimates that 66 tons of copper per year enter Puget Sound from vehicle brake pads.

Pathogens

The capacity of vegetated buffers to remove or reduce can be variable based on sitespecific factors including, but not limited to, soil infiltration, vegetation composition, topography and rainfall intensity and duration (Quinn et al. 2020). While not necessarily a problem for fish and other wildlife, waterborne pathogens associated with human and animal wastes are a concern for direct and indirect human exposure. Although pathogens include a suite of bacteria and viruses, fecal coliform bacteria, specifically E. coli, are typically used as an indicator of the possible or presumed presence of these pathogens. Fecal pollution tends to be positively correlated with human population densities and impervious surface coverage (Glasoe & Christy 2004). The main sources of fecal pollutants include municipal sewage systems, on-site sewage systems, stormwater runoff, marinas and boaters, farm animals, pets, and wildlife (Glasoe & Christy 2004). As municipal wastewater systems have improved treatment quality and capacity in recent years, nonpoint source (septic systems, stormwater, wildlife, and pets) pollution is increasingly responsible for fecal contaminants in surface water (Glasoe & Christy 2004).

Herbicides & Pesticides

Commonly used herbicides, pesticides, and other pollutants may also affect aquatic communities, and the acute and chronic effects of these chemicals or combinations of these chemicals are not always well understood. Additionally, effects documented in the laboratory may differ significantly from effects identified in a field setting (Relyea 2005, Thompson et al. 2004). Despite our limited understanding, the effects of these chemicals may be long-lasting, as has been observed for legacy pollutants such as polychlorinated biphenyls and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in salmon, seabirds, and marine mammals in Puget Sound (O'Neill et al. 1998, Ross et al. 2000, Wahl et al. 2005, Grant & Ross 2002, Oneal & Rotenberry 2009).

While the effect of these herbicides and pesticides may be uncertain, science is clear that they may reach aquatic systems through several pathways, including surface runoff, erosion, subsurface drains, groundwater leaching and spray drift. Additionally, a meta-analysis found that filtration effectiveness increased logarithmically from approximately 1.5 feet to an asymptote at approximately 60 feet (Zhang et al. 2010). Relatively narrow vegetated buffers may be effective in limiting herbicides and pesticides from reaching aquatic habitats in surface runoff, erosion, and spray drift; however, transport via subsurface drainage and leaching are not affected by riparian buffers, and these processes are best addressed using best management practices for herbicide and pesticide applications to avoid contaminating groundwater (Reichenberger et al. 2007).

Pharmaceuticals

Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 1: Science Synthesis and Management Implications from Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (Quinn et al. 2020) discusses that it is recognized that pharmaceuticals and personal care products can have negative impacts on fish and other aquatic organisms at individual and population levels even at extremely low concentrations. Phytoremediation by riparian vegetation may be a technique to reduce water quality impacts from organic contaminants, but additional research is recommended to determine overall effectiveness and design guidelines (Quinn et al. 2020). Many commonly used pharmaceuticals are found in wastewater, particularly around urbanized areas (Long et al. 2013). Many common pharmaceuticals have endocrine-disrupting properties, which can affect fertility and development in non-target aquatic species (Caliman & Gavrilescu 2009).

3.2.1.2 Wildlife Habitat

Intact riparian management zones in urban areas provide habitat that act as wildlife corridors to connect fragments of habitat, and to provide space for wildlife movement away from human interaction, thus reducing conflict between humans and wildlife. As adjacent uplands are typically more degraded than riparian management zones, riparian management zones subsequently become the only remaining areas where these habitat functions are provided (Rentz et al. 2020). Riparian ecosystems, including the streams, provide this wildlife habitat through the presence of unique structures and processes. The aquatic ecosystems provide habitat for a broad range of fauna including invertebrates, reptiles and amphibians, anadromous and resident fish, birds, and mammals.

The performance of riparian habitat functions are affected to varying degrees by the width and/or character of the surrounding management zones. Disturbance vectors include noise; nighttime light; physical intrusion by equipment, people, or pets; and garbage. Each of these vectors can result in one or more of the following: disruption of essential wildlife activities, damage to native vegetation and invasion of non-native species, erosion, or fill, among others.

Habitat fragmentation is a consequence of urbanization. As land is developed, continuous tracts of native habitat are reduced to patches, which become progressively smaller and more isolated. Dale et al. (2000) found that ecological impacts of development are often overlooked and landscape-scale changes, particularly habitat fragmentation, alter the structure and function of those ecosystems. Cumulative impacts of direct and indirect riparian ecosystem alterations, including hydrologic changes, compromised water quality, and habitat fragmentation, tend to reduce the habitat functions and values of the riparian zone (Sheldon et al. 2005, Azous & Horner 2000).

3.2.2 Additional BAS

3.2.2.1 Riparian Management

In 2020, the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife came out with new guidance (Rentz et al. 2020) for the protection of riparian areas. The guidance emphasizes a shift in terminology from the concept of "stream buffers" to "riparian management zones" (RMZs). An RMZ is defined as "... the area that has the potential to provide full riparian functions" (Rentz et al. 2020) Further, an RMZ is now recommended to be regulated as a fish and wildlife habitat conservation area itself to protect its fundamental value, rather than as a buffer for rivers and streams (Rentz et al. 2020). Stream buffers are established in local critical areas ordinances based on best available science and are intended to protect streams but may or may not provide full riparian function or a close approximation of it. To achieve full riparian function, the guidance recommends that RMZs be considered a delineable, regulatory critical area and that the guidance be applied to all streams and rivers, regardless of size and type.

Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife's current recommendations for establishing RMZ widths are based primarily on a site potential tree height framework. The site potential tree height of an area is defined as "The average maximum height of the tallest dominant trees (200 years or more) for a given age and site class." (Rentz et al. 2020). Exceptions may occur where site potential tree height is less than 100 feet, in which case the agency recommends assigning an RMZ width of 100 feet at a minimum to provide adequate biofiltration and infiltration of runoff for water quality protection from most pollutants, but also in consideration of other habitat-related factors including shade and wood recruitment. A 100-foot-wide buffer is estimated to achieve 95% pollution removal and approximately 85% surface nitrogen (Rentz et al. 2020). Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife recommends measuring RMZ widths from the outer edge of the channel migration zone, where present, or from the ordinary high water mark where a channel migration zone is not present.

To apply their methodology, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife has developed a web-based mapping tool for use in determining site potential tree height in forested ecoregions of the state, including Kitsap County. Where site potential tree height is 100 feet or more, the agency recommends RMZ establishment within one site potential tree height, driven by the largest dominant tree species at any location. Acknowledging that establishing functional RMZs using the recommended methods may not be practical in many developed areas, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife recommends effective watershed management, preservation, and protection, improving riparian ecosystem habitat functions as is feasible within existing constraints. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife RMZ establishment and management recommendations are detailed in their

Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 2: Management Recommendations document (Rentz et al. 2020). Examples of watershed-scale approaches include considering stormwater management adjacent to pollution generating impervious surface areas and prioritizing impassable culverts on fish-bearing streams.

3.3 CLIMATE CHANGE BAS

Changes in temperatures and seasonal precipitation patterns are projected to place additional stressors on fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas. Some loss of riparian vegetation is anticipated due to the stresses of climate change, primarily warmer and drier summers. A reduction in riparian vegetation potentially triggers a cascading effect. A decrease in riparian vegetation would decrease shading, increase stream temperature, decrease detrital inputs, reduce available habitat structure, and reduce stream bank stability. Changes in seasonal hydrologic cycles may increase frequency and magnitude of flashy runoff events, which would increase peak winter flows, mobilize greater volumes of sediments and pollutants into streams, reduce groundwater recharge that supports base stream flows in summer, and result in decreased streamflow overall. Instream habitats are particularly negatively impacted by excess sediment discharge and deposition.

Stressors associated with climate change are projected to significantly impact fish and wildlife species, including Chinook, coho, and sockeye salmon, steelhead and bull trout, and amphibians. The surface and subsurface water temperatures in Hood Canal and Puget Sound have already warmed from 0.8-1.6 degrees Fahrenheit since 1950 (Mauger et al. 2015, Hansen et al. 2016). The projected impacts from climate change will result in increased mortality of these species and will directly impact downstream ecosystems and the marine food system (Mauger et al. 2015, Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe Natural Resources Department 2017).

4 GEOLOGICALLY HAZARDOUS AREAS

4.1 DEFINITION/DESCRIPTION

Geologically hazardous areas pose a threat to human health and safety when incompatible development is sited in areas of significant hazard (WAC 365-190-120(1)). However, such areas also provide ecological functions and values.

The WAC defines "geologically hazardous areas" as follows (WAC 365-190-030(9)):

"Geologically hazardous areas" are areas that because of their susceptibility to erosion, sliding, earthquake, or other geological events, are not suited to siting commercial, residential, or industrial development consistent with public health or safety concerns.

The four main types of geologically hazardous areas recognized in the GMA are (RCW 36.70A.030(9) and WAC 365-190-120):

- 1. Erosion hazard areas;
- 2. Landslide hazard areas;
- 3. Seismic hazard areas; and
- 4. Areas subject to other geologic events.

The WAC defines "erosion hazard areas" as follows (WAC 365-190-030(5)):

"Erosion hazard areas" are those areas containing soils which, according to the United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service Soil Survey Program, may experience significant erosion. Erosion hazard areas also include coastal erosion-prone areas and channel migration zones.

The WAC defines "landslide hazard areas" as follows (WAC 365-190-030(10)):

"Landslide hazard areas" are areas at risk of mass movement due to a combination of geologic, topographic, and hydrologic factors.

The WAC defines "seismic hazard areas" as follows (WAC 365-190-030(18)):

"Seismic hazard areas" are areas subject to severe risk of damage as a result of earthquake induced ground shaking, slope failure, settlement, soil liquefaction, debris flows, lahars, or tsunamis.

4.2 FUNCTIONS & VALUES

4.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values

4.2.1.1 Erosion Hazard Areas

Erosion is a natural process that can contribute sediment, rocks, and large woody debris to aquatic environments. Natural levels of erosion are important for maintaining sediment processes in aquatic environments, such as appropriate spawning substrate for surf smelt or sand lance in the nearshore, fine sediment that builds stream deltas and estuary complexity, and spawning substrate for salmon in streams. However, excessive erosion and deposition can harm streams, shorelines, and the plants and animals that inhabit them. Erosion events can occur in a number of ways, one of which is due to anthropogenic effects, such as clearing vegetation and increasing surface runoff through the creation of new impervious surface. In cleared areas, rainfall tends to concentrate in small channels, and as the water gains depth and volume, sediment can be mobilized by the flow. In this way, small channels or rills can eventually develop into gullies. Vegetation increases the stability of geologic hazard areas. Vegetation reduces erosion by preventing a significant amount of rainfall from reaching the soil and physically binds the soil together with root materials (Booth et al. 2002, Naiman & Decamps 1997).

In areas with impervious surfaces, the reduction in stormwater infiltration generates more rapid runoff from land into streams and rivers. This results in an increase in peak flow volume, which in turn produces higher energy and increases the potential for streambank erosion (Booth 1990, Booth 1991, Nelson & Booth 2002).

When development encroaches on geologically hazardous areas, it also increases the probability that protective measures to prevent geologic movement, such as armoring or retaining walls, will be needed to protect property. This impacts the ecosystem by interrupting natural geologic processes. Further, when structures are placed in areas susceptible to erosion, or land use actions cause formerly stable areas to begin eroding, the risk of erosion increases for surrounding land uses as well.

4.2.1.2 Landslide Hazard Areas

Landslides can be fast or slow, and deep or shallow, initiating from the bottom of a slope, the top of a slope, or somewhere in between.

Areas prone to landslides in coastal areas of Kitsap County are commonly slopes comprised of relatively permeable materials, such as sand and gravel, over a less permeable material, such as bedrock or clay. The most common type of landslide in the Puget Sound region occurs in response to either heavy precipitation (Tubbs 1974) or elevated groundwater conditions (Thorsen 1987) in colluvium derived from glacial deposits. Glacial deposits often result in surface layers that are more permeable than the deeper layers, causing water to perch at the contact between the two layers. The weight and increase in pore pressure from the water causes the upper layer to fail, and slide over the deeper, more resistant layer.

Most coastal bluff retreat (top of the bluff recedes landward) within the Puget Sound occurs through landsliding, most of which are shallow landslides and debris avalanches. Large slumps and landslides are less common and seem to be associated with taller bluffs (Shipman 2004) and are triggered by elevated groundwater (Savage et al. 2000) and seismic activity (Chleborad 1994). According to Shipman (2004), steeper slopes are more prone to failure due to increased gravitational stresses. However, due to the heterogeneous nature of bluff geology in the Puget Sound lowlands, variability in hydrologic conditions and rock strengths make landslides difficult to predict.

Landslides are also common in interior Kitsap County above rivers and streams and in steep terrain.

Activities associated with urban development, including vegetation removal and increased impervious surfaces, can increase the landslide hazard of susceptible areas. Vegetation plays a significant role in landslide potential by intercepting a substantial amount of rainfall, preventing it from infiltrating into the soil. Roots from vegetation also take up and transpire some of the water that does reach the soil (Watson & Burnett 1995). This reduces the amount of water that rests at the contact between the permeable and impermeable layer. A dense matrix of roots can also lend considerable strength to the soil on a slope (Schmidt et al. 2001), decreasing the likelihood of slope failure and shallow-rapid landslides.

4.2.1.3 Seismic Hazard Areas

Washington is located on the Cascadia Subduction Zone at the plate boundary between the Juan de Fuca and the North American tectonic plates. Earthquakes initiating from the Cascadia Subduction Zone are generally less frequent than other earthquake locations but tend to be larger in magnitude.

Seismic Risk Zones are classified on a scale from zero to four, with four being the highest risk. The Puget Lowland, which includes Kitsap County, is classed as a Seismic Risk Zone 3. The largest of the recorded earthquakes in the region were the magnitude 7.1 Olympia earthquake in 1949, followed by the magnitude 6.8 Nisqually earthquake in 2001. The Nisqually earthquake was the most recent earthquake to cause substantial damage in Kitsap County, causing minor to moderate damage to approximately 750 residents (FEMA 2015).

Secondary hazards associated with seismic events include liquefaction of the soil, rockfall, landsliding, dam failure, levee failure, and tsunamis or seiches. Areas of moderate to high susceptibility to liquefaction within Kitsap County tend to be collocated with the floodplains of rivers.

As described in the Kitsap County Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan (KCDEM 2019), in the event of a Seattle Fault 7.2 magnitude earthquake, unincorporated Kitsap County's building losses are estimated to be \$3.6 billion, representing a 18% loss ratio (dollar losses/total building value). Essential facilities and infrastructure are also anticipated to lose function immediately after an event.

4.3 ADDITIONAL BAS

A variety of recommendations were made by the SR 530 Landslide Commission following the Oso mudslide that occurred in Snohomish County in March 2014. For example, the commission included that "the Legislature significantly expand data collection and landslide mapping efforts, which will provide the foundation for sound public and private land-use planning and decision-making" (SR 530 Landslide Commission 2014). The commission's recommendations may result in additional guidance and tools for regulating geologically hazardous areas in the coming years as they are implemented.

4.4 CLIMATE CHANGE BAS

Geologically hazardous areas, particularly erosion hazard areas and landslide hazard areas, are prone to impacts from changing patterns in precipitation and associated stress on native trees and shrubs and groundcover plants. Climate change models project warmer, drier summers, and increased precipitation in other seasons while maintaining roughly the same amount of annual precipitation (Dalton et al. 2013). This indicates that heavy rains will be more common outside of summer months. When the magnitude and frequency of rain events increase, it can over-saturate soils and contribute to instability. Rainfall intensity and duration is a predictor for landslide events (Chleborad et al. 2006, DNR 2020). Extreme precipitation events modeled by the UW Climate Impacts Group are expected to increase in intensity and frequency (Morgan et. al. 2021). If significant plant mortality occurs in dry summer periods, in conjunction with heavy rains, there will potentially be less vegetation rooted in hazard areas to stabilize them.

Coastal areas will also become more prone to erosion and landslides as, coupled with increased precipitation intensity, sea level rises and increases flood inundation of estuarine and riverine systems. As described in the *Kitsap County Climate Change Resilience Study* (Kitsap County et al. 2020), sea levels in Bremerton have risen at a rate of approximately one inch every 12.3 years, and heavy rainfall event intensity increased by 50% since 1990 (Kitsap County et al. 2020). The cities of Bainbridge Island and Port Orchard have experienced similar precipitation and sea level rise impacts. Concurrently, sea level rise and increased riverine inundation could also increase tsunami inundation in the event of seismic activity.

5 FREQUENTLY FLOODED AREAS

5.1 DEFINITION/DESCRIPTION

Frequently flooded areas are topographic features or landforms flooded by streams and rivers, shoreline waves and storm surges, high groundwater levels, or increased runoff from urban development. They usually overflow during high runoff, high tides, prolonged or intense rainfall and snowmelt, or a combination of these conditions. Frequently flooded areas are typically depressional areas defined by their elevation, geological controls, and watershed or drainage area characteristics.

Frequently flooded areas serve important habitat functions for fish and wildlife, but also pose a risk to public safety.

The WAC defines "frequently flooded areas" as follows (WAC 365-190-030(8)):

"Frequently flooded areas" are lands in the flood plain subject to at least a one percent or greater chance of flooding in any given year, or within areas subject to flooding due to high groundwater. These areas include, but are not limited to, streams, rivers, lakes, coastal areas, wetlands, and areas where high groundwater forms ponds on the ground surface.

5.2 FUNCTIONS & VALUES

5.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values

While often thought of in the context of safeguarding the public from hazards to health and safety, frequently flooded areas are dynamic and ecologically productive environments. Flooding is a natural process and provides important hydrologic and biological functions.

Dynamic hydrologic processes, including mobilization of large woody debris and other allochthonous inputs, can be critical to the maintenance of fish and wildlife habitat (Naiman & Decamps 1997, Gurnell et al. 2005). High-flow channels carved into floodplains provide important habitat for a variety of fish species, creating areas of refuge from high flows. Over time, during periods of high flow, streams will overtop their banks and deposit sediment load, cumulatively forming a floodplain (Dunne & Leopold 1978, Knighton 1998). Floodplain storage reduces peak stream flows and contributes to infiltration and aquifer recharge. Flooding is more than a water surface elevation from a fixed-bed hydraulic model. It is a three-dimensional process with overbank flow that mobilizes bed sediments, recruits large woody debris, and initiates channel migration. It stores the fluvial sediment behind large woody debris that drives downwelling and hyporheic flows downstream. The frequency of flooding varies with local drainage characteristics and variable high flows, but most frequently flooded areas experience high flows every year or two. Frequent flooding is an essential element of a healthy, dynamic natural environment.

When streams are altered through urbanization, including channel straightening and armoring, they can become disconnected from their natural floodplain and associated wetlands (Booth 1990). Additionally, increased impervious surfaces and loss of forest within a basin increases peak flow magnitude and frequency (Booth et al. 2002). Associated downcutting of stream channels further separates them from floodplains, increases instream erosion, and deposits sediment in downstream environments, blocking culverts in some cases (Booth 1990). As noted by Booth et al. (2004), integrated management of complex stream environments requires more detail than total impervious basin area figures. Patterns of urban development are relevant to watershed functions and both increased impervious surface area and its aggregation or patch size directly impact stream ecosystems (Alberti et al. 2006). As described above, stream dynamics are closely linked to floodplain functions.

5.2.2 Additional BAS

New developments in GIS mapping of frequently flooded areas offer a comprehensive, geomorphic approach to the delineation of floodplains in alluvial basins (USGS et al. 2013). This basin-specific approach recognizes the geological and hydrological elements of sediment transport, large woody debris dynamics, and more frequent (2-year to 10-year recurrence interval) high-flow processes (Wald 2009). The use of spatial data, particularly LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging) coverages, for mapping floodplains is a useful and applicable augmentation of hydraulic modeling used in Federal Emergency Management Agency flood insurance studies. Most frequently flooded areas can be delineated and mapped using LiDAR coverages available from the Washington Geologic Information Portal (DNR n.d.) and other sources. Integrating geospatial data to identify floodplain functions is a recommended strategy for protecting floodplains (NFFA & WMC 2023).

5.3 CLIMATE CHANGE BAS

Seasonal changes in the Pacific Northwest are projected to entail wetter autumns and winters and drier summers (Mote & Salathe 2010). Increased precipitation in autumn and winter with climate change will increase the frequency of flood events in any given year

(Ecology 2021). The projected increases in extreme precipitation and flooding will increase the risk of interruptions to transit, food systems, ecosystems, and municipal operations while damaging structures and critical infrastructure located in or adjacent to the currently designated floodplains.

Flooding is the most repetitive and damaging natural hazard in Kitsap County (KCDEM 2019). Coastal cities and adjacent areas of the county are anticipated to experience risk to their infrastructure and structures, worth approximately \$13.4 million (Kitsap County et al. 2020). Future risk of flooding is anticipated to increase in urban areas because of increasing heavy rains, sea level rise, and storm surges. This flooding activity may overwhelm existing stormwater and wastewater infrastructure capacity (Kitsap County et al. 2020).

As described in the *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment* (Kitsap County et al. 2020), sea level rise projections indicate a 51% and a 98% risk of at least one flood over four feet occurring in Kitsap County between 2020 and 2050 under low and high emissions scenarios, respectively (Climate Central 2016). Two square miles of land are projected to be at risk of being impacted by a flood exceeding four feet in Kitsap County. Within those two square miles, there are 1,521 individuals, 940 homes, ten miles of public roads, and an estimated property value of over \$300 million (Climate Central 2016). These impacts are projected to increase in severity under higher emissions scenarios.

Increased flooding may increase sediment transport in winter and spring (Mauger et al. 2015). Extreme flood events may negatively impact instream habitats by mobilizing sediment and pollutants (Talbot et al. 2018).

Federal Emergency Management Agency maps have historically played a central role in the identifying frequently flooded areas. However, these maps cover less than half the frequently flooded areas in Kitsap County, are currently based only on past flood events, and do not consider future flood risk. These maps also do not consider sea level rise, other climate change impacts, or channel migration zones (Commerce 2023).

To integrate climate change into flood risk management in Washington State, an interagency group called the Washington Silver Jackets was formed. This group works to develop improved estimates of future flooding, develop resources for local planners, build capacity and coordinate on resiliency, improve public engagement, and coordinate floodplain management goals (Mauger & Kennard 2017).

Evaluations specific to Kitsap County to anticipate precipitation and flooding increases will inform strategic land use planning to mitigate climate change impacts and risks (Bell et al. 2016). As described in the *Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan* (KCDEM 2020), the

installation of rain gauges throughout Kitsap County has provided improved information on water tables, droughts, and rainfall data to inform future mitigation strategies.

6 CRITICAL AQUIFER RECHARGE AREAS

6.1 DEFINITION/DESCRIPTION

An aquifer is a geologic formation that readily transmits water to wells or springs. Aquifer recharge occurs when water infiltrates the ground and flows to an aquifer.

An aquifer can be confined or unconfined. An unconfined aquifer is one in which the upper boundary is the water table. A confined aquifer is a deeper aquifer that is separated from the surface by an aquitard (a geologic formation that limits but does not prevent the transmission of water) or aquiclude (a geologic formation that does not allow for the transmission of water) and is often under pressure.

Groundwater recharge areas are characterized by decreasing hydraulic head with depth (direction of groundwater movement is downward). Groundwater discharge areas are characterized by increasing hydraulic head with depth (direction of groundwater movement is upward) (Driscoll 1986, Winter et al. 1998).

Local aquifers are often relatively shallow (less than 100 feet below land surface) and unconfined. Regional aquifers are often deeper, semi-confined or confined, with recharge areas extending beyond jurisdictional boundaries.

The WAC defines "critical aquifer recharge areas" as follows (WAC 365-190-030(3)):

"Critical aquifer recharge areas" are areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable water, including areas where an aquifer that is a source of drinking water is vulnerable to contamination that would affect the potability of the water, or is susceptible to reduced recharge.

Critical aquifer recharge areas are usually delineated for Group B water systems (fewer than 15 connections and fewer than 25 people per day) regulated by local health departments in conjunction with the Washington State Department of Health. Critical aquifer recharge areas for the larger Group A systems are regulated by the Washington State Department of Health. Individual domestic wells are regulated by well construction standards administered by Ecology.

6.2 FUNCTIONS & VALUES

6.2.1 Summary of Functions & Values

The functions and values of critical aquifer recharge areas, as stated in the Ecology *Draft Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance* (2021), "are to provide the public with clean, safe, and available drinking water."

In addition to providing drinking water, groundwater also plays a major role in other critical area functions and values. Groundwater contributes to stream surface water flows, wetland hydrology, and flood flows. Surface water and groundwater are interconnected. Groundwater is the source for stream base flow, and during drier periods, this base flow may be the sole source of stream surface flow. Thus, a stream or wetland can serve as a discharge point for groundwater during drier periods; during wetter periods, the same streams can recharge groundwater, and therefore an aquifer. Under natural conditions, this surface and groundwater cycle attenuates surface water flows following storm events. Groundwater conditions can also influence geologic hazards, including landslide hazards and erosion hazards.

6.2.1.1 Water Quality

While aquifer recharge areas serve to replenish groundwater supplies, they can also serve as a conduit for the introduction of contaminants to groundwater. The risk of groundwater contamination—impacts to water quality—is related to two main parameters: the susceptibility of the aquifer and the contamination loading potential or source loading (U.S. EPA 1995, DOH 2017).

Aquifer susceptibility refers to how easily water and pollutants can move from the surface through the ground to reach the underlying aquifer. A shallow, unconfined aquifer in a gravel-rich basin would be more susceptible to contamination than a deep, confined aquifer overlain by dense glacial till.

The susceptibility of an aquifer can be assessed by looking at three critical factors (Morgan 2005):

- 1. The overall permeability of the vadose zone (the unsaturated material between the aquifer and the ground surface, through which any contaminants would need to pass to reach the aquifer);
- 2. The thickness of the vadose zone or depth to the aquifer; and
- 3. The amount of recharge available.

Permeability of the vadose zone can be estimated from soil and geologic mapping. Depth to an aquifer can be determined by examining well logs in the vicinity.

Contamination loading refers to the quantity and types of pollutants present in the area, and how they are handled. Unmanaged open space would have a low contamination loading potential, while a light industrial area would likely have a higher loading potential, and an older industrial site with multiple leaking storage containers would have a high loading potential.

Together, susceptibility and loading potential determine the vulnerability of an aquifer. A highly susceptible aquifer may have a low vulnerability if the land use within the area is primarily open space. Likewise, an industrial site with multiple leaking storage containers may not create significant vulnerability if it is separated from the nearest aquifer by several hundred feet of dense, glacially compressed clay.

6.2.1.2 Water Quantity

Surface water and groundwater are cyclic and frequently interact through recharge and discharge areas. Maintaining water quantity within an aquifer supports both potable water uses and landscape-scale habitat functions, which are groundwater-dependent.

Aquifer recharge areas are areas where water from rainfall, snowmelt, lakes, rivers, streams, or wetlands infiltrates into the ground to an aquifer. Aquifer discharge areas are areas where water flows away from an aquifer to the ground's surface. Aquifer discharge areas can include seeps, springs, wetlands, streams, lakes, estuaries, and shorelines. Wells are also considered an aquifer discharge. Groundwater movement is driven by gravity, so an aquifer's recharge area is typically at a higher elevation than its discharge area. However, in some cases, subsurface conditions may result in groundwater flow that does not reflect surficial topography (Driscoll 1986).

The quantity of water available in an aquifer is a balance between recharge, storage, and discharge. Land use and development typically alter water conveyance within a basin, and thus this balance. For example, replacing forests with buildings, roads, driveways, lawns, and even pastures typically reduces the recharge to underlying aquifers while simultaneously increasing peak runoff rates to streams. As water usage increases with population growth, the potential water level of an aquifer decreases and the risk of seawater intrusion increases (Jones et al. 2016). In rare instances, some land uses can increase recharge rates. For example, if homes in an area receive water from a river or lake and discharge that water into septic systems, the result can be an increase in recharge to the underlying aquifer, and one that has potential for introducing contaminants (Dunne & Leopold 1978, Winter et al. 1998).

Recharge to an aquifer is dependent on precipitation and infiltration into the soil below the root zone, in the form of deep percolation (Welch et al. 2014). Infiltration below the root zone is controlled by several factors, including temperature, wind, soil type, geology, vegetation type, and land surface slope. The root zone is an important factor to consider as evaporation and transpiration of water by plants reduces the water available for groundwater recharge and can use up much or most of the rainfall during some months (Wang et al. 2022). As referenced in the *Kitsap County Initial Basin Assessment* (Kitsap Public Utility District 1997), it is estimated that only 44% of annual rainfall is recharged as groundwater. The remaining precipitation is typically evaporated, absorbed, and transpired by vegetation, or diverted as runoff.

As mentioned above, an unconfined aquifer occurs when there is no semi-permeable or impermeable barrier between the ground surface and the aquifer. The recharge area for an unconfined aquifer is typically the land area contributing infiltration to the aquifer. Surface water, in lakes, streams, and wetlands, may play a large role in both recharge to and discharge from unconfined aquifers, and the function may vary from season to season (Dunne & Leopold 1978, Winter et al. 1998).

For a confined aquifer, more involved site-specific studies must be undertaken to understand the movement of subsurface water. Well logs from a given area can be used to map aquifers, and water elevations in the wells can be mapped to define a hydraulic gradient, which can then be used to determine flow direction in the aquifer (Senior et al. 2005).

Changes in groundwater recharge and withdrawal of water by wells are the primary drivers of reductions in groundwater quantity.

6.2.2 Additional BAS

Recent Ecology guidance (2021) recommends the following eight steps to characterize and protect critical aquifer recharge areas in a local community:

- 1. Identify where groundwater resources are located.
- 2. Analyze the susceptibility of the natural setting where groundwater occurs.
- 3. Inventory existing potential sources of groundwater contamination.
- 4. Classify the relative vulnerability of groundwater to contamination events.
- 5. Designate areas that are most at risk to contamination events.
- 6. Protect by minimizing activities and conditions that pose contamination risks.

- 7. Ensure that contamination prevention plans and best management practices are implemented and followed.
- 8. Manage groundwater withdrawals and recharge impacts to:
 - Maintain availability for drinking water sources.
 - Maintain stream base flow from groundwater to support in-stream flows, especially for salmon-bearing streams.

6.3 CLIMATE CHANGE BAS

Climate change impacts to surface and groundwater quality and quantity based on regional trends are summarized below.

- Hotter, dryer summers will reduce ground surface saturation during the growing season. This is likely to reduce wetland areas and the groundwater recharge they provide.
- Changes to seasonal precipitation patterns are likely to reduce groundwater recharge. This would reduce streams flows that are supported, in part, by groundwater.
- Wildfires will bring more particulates into the environment and settle into surface and groundwater.
- Increased winter flooding increases the likelihood of overwhelming stormwater treatment facilities and flooding roads, which may transport contaminants into surface water, including local streams and wetlands.

Changes to surface water inputs will alter timing, frequency, and duration of surface water presence are projected to alter hydrologic patterns. Altered hydrology is projected to include earlier peak stream flows, increased frequency and extent of flooding, and reduced summer flows (Mauger et al. 2015).

However, groundwater is likely to be more resilient under climate change stressors relative to surface water resources (U.S. EPA n.d.). Ecology notes in their *Draft Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance* that groundwater impacts may occur with climate change. The primary stressors noted are changes in the timing and amount of groundwater recharge, and increased pressure to use groundwater as surface water conditions change. Ecology recommends focusing on water conservation (2021). Population growth also presents challenges for protecting critical aquifer recharge areas as land use intensity increases (Ecology 2021). For example, multi-year droughts can increase reliance on groundwater sources, lead to reductions in groundwater tables, aquifer depletion, and potentially result in saltwater intrusion (Asinas et al. 2022). According to the *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment* (Kitsap County et al. 2020), there are many public water systems in Kitsap County that serve at least 25 people or have 15 or more connections with only a single water source with no back-up supply. Communities that are reliant on single-source systems may have increased vulnerability to future water shortages or water quality degradation (May et al. 2018).

7 **REFERENCES**

7.1 INTRODUCTION

DCG/Watershed. (2023). *Kitsap County Critical Areas Ordinance Update Consistency and Gap Analysis Report.*

Kitsap County, City of Bremerton, & City of Port Orchard. (2020). *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment*.

https://www.kitsapgov.com/dcd/Kitsap_climate_assessment/KitsapCountyCli mateAssessment_June2020%20-%202%20Full%20Assessment%20LowRes.pdf

Kitsap County Code (KCC). <u>https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/KitsapCounty/</u>

- Mauger, G.S., Casola, J.H., Morgan, H.A., Strauch, R.L., Jones, B., Curry, B., Busch Isaksen,
 T.M., Whitely Binder, L., Krosby, M.B. & Snover, A.K. (2015). *State of Knowledge: Climate Change in Puget Sound*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington,
 Seattle. <u>https://doi.org/10.7915/CIG93777D</u>
- Mote, P., & Salathe, E. (2010). Future climate in the Pacific Northwest. *Climatic Change*, *102*, 29-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-010-9848-z
- Mote, P., Snover, A., Capalbo, S., Eigenbrode, S.D., Glick, P., Littell, J., Raymondi, R., & Reeder, S. (2014). Chapter 21: Northwest. In Melillo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., & Yohe, G.W. (Eds). *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment* (pp. 487-513), U.S. Global Change Research Program.
 https://doi.org/10.7930/J04Q7RWX

Revised Code of Washington (RCW). https://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/

Snover, A.K., Raymond C.L., Roop, H.A., & Morgan, H. (2019). No Time to Waste. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C and Implications for Washington State. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington, Seattle. <u>https://cig.uw.edu/wp-</u> content/uploads/sites/2/2019/02/NoTimeToWaste_CIG_Feb2019.pdf

Washington Administrative Code (WAC). <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/WAc/default.aspx</u>

7.2 WETLANDS

7.2.1 General

- Adamus, P.R., Clairain, E.J., Smith, D.R., & Young, R.E. (1991). *Wetland Evaluation Technique (WET). Vol. I. Literature Review and Evaluation Rationale.* U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Waterways Experiment Station.
- Brinson, M.M. (1993). *A Hydrogeomorphic Classification for Wetlands*. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station. Wetlands Research Program Technical Report WRP-DE-4.

https://usace.contentdm.oclc.org/digital/collection/p266001coll1/id/3348/

- Dittbrenner, B.J., Schilling, J.W., Torgersen, C.E., & Lawler, J.J. (2022). Relocated beaver can increase water storage and decrease stream temperature in headwater streams. *Ecosphere, 13*(7), e4168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.4168</u>
- Guderyahn, L.B., Smithers, A.P. & Mims, M.C. (2016). Assessing habitat requirements of pond-breeding amphibians in a highly urbanized landscape: implications for management. Urban Ecosystems 19, 1801–1821. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-016-0569-6</u>
- Hattermann, F., Krysanova, V., & Hesse, C. (2008). Modelling wetland processes in regional applications. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, *53*(5), 1001-1012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1623/hysj.53.5.1001</u>
- Hruby, T. (2014). Washington State Wetland Rating System for Western Washington.
 Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication No. 14-06-029.
 https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/1406029.pdf

- Hruby, T., Harper, K., & Stanley, S. (2009). Selecting Wetland Mitigation Sites Using a Watershed Approach. Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication No. 09-06-032. <u>https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/0906032.pdf</u>
- Kauffman, J.B., Mahrt, M., Mahrt, L., & Edge, W.D. (2001). Wildlife of riparian habitats. In
 D.H. Johnson & T.A. O'Neil (Eds.), *Wildlife-Habitat Relationships in Oregon and Washington* (pp. 361-388). Oregon State University Press.
- Kerr S.C., M.M. Shafer, J. Overdier, & D.E. Armstrong. (2008). Hydrologic and biogeochemical controls on trace element export from northern Wisconsin wetlands. *Biogeochemistry 89*, 273–294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-008-9219-2</u>
- Quesnelle, P.E., K.E. Lindsay, & L. Fahrig. (2015). Relative effects of landscape-scale wetland amount and landscape matrix quality on wetland vertebrates: a meta-analysis. *Ecological Applications, 25*(3), 812-825. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0362.1</u>
- Revised Code of Washington (RCW). https://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/
- Schueler, T.R. (2000). The Impact of Stormwater on Puget Sound Wetlands. *Watershed Protection Techniques 3*(2), Technical Note #109.
- Sheldon, D., Hruby, T., Johnson, P., Harper, K., McMillan, A., Granger, T., Stanley, S. & Stockdale, E. (2005). Wetlands in Washington State, Vol. 1: A Synthesis of the Science.
 Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication #05-06-006.
 https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/0506006.pdf
- Wang, P., Zhang, M., Lu, Y., Meng J., Li, Q., & Lu, X. (2019). Removal of perfluoalkyl acids (PFAAs) through fluorochemical industrial and domestic wastewater treatment plants and bioaccumulation in aquatic plants in rivers and artificial wetland. *Environment International, 129*, 76–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.04.072</u>
- Zhang, D., R.M. Gersber, W.J. Ng, & S.K. Tan. (2014). Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in aquatic plant-based systems: A review. *Environmental Pollution 184, 620-639*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.09.009</u>

7.2.2 Additional BAS

 Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). (2022). Wetland Guidance for Critical Areas Ordinance (CAO) Updates, Western and Eastern Washington. Publication #22-06-014. https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/2206014.pdf

7.2.3 Climate Change BAS

Association of State Wetland Managers (ASWM). (2015). *Wetlands and Climate Change: Considerations for Wetland Program Managers*.

https://www.nawm.org/pdf_lib/wetlands_and_climate_change_consideratons_f or_wetland_program_managers_0715.pdf

Halabisky, M. (2017). *Reconstructing the Past and Modeling the Future of Wetland Dynamics Under Climate Change* [Dissertation, University of Washington]. Research Works Archive.

https://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/bitstream/handle/1773/4058 5/Halabisky_washington_0250E_17613.pdf?sequence=1

Kitsap County, City of Bremerton, & City of Port Orchard. (2020). *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment*. <u>https://www.kitsapgov.com/dcd/Kitsap_climate_assessment/KitsapCountyCli</u> <u>mateAssessment_June2020%20-%202%20Full%20Assessment%20LowRes.pdf</u>

- Kitsap County Department of Community Development (KCDCD). (2017). *Wetlands*. https://www.kitsapgov.com/dcd/FormsandBrochures/Wetlands.pdf
- Mauger, G.S., Casola, J.H., Morgan, H.A., Strauch, R.L., Jones, B., Curry, B., Busch Isaksen, T.M., Whitely Binder, L., Krosby, M.B. & Snover, A.K. (2015). *State of Knowledge: Climate Change in Puget Sound*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington, Seattle. <u>https://doi.org/10.7915/CIG93777D</u>
- Nahlik, A. M., & Fennessy, M.S. (2016). Carbon storage in U.S. wetlands. *Nature Communications, 7, 13835.* https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13835
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). (2015). *Connectivity of Streams and Wetlands to Downstream Waters: A Review and Synthesis of the Scientific Evidence*. https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/risk/recordisplay.cfm?deid=296414
- Vose, J., Peterson, D.L., & Patel-Weynand, T. (2012). Effects of Climatic Variability and Change on Forest Ecosystems: A Comprehensive Science Synthesis for the U.S. Forest Sector. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service. General Technical Report PNW-GTR-870. https://www.fs.usda.gov/pnw/pubs/pnw_gtr870/pnw_gtr870.pdf

Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). (n.d). *Wetlands & Climate Change*. https://ecology.wa.gov/Water-Shorelines/Wetlands/Tools-resources/Wetlandsclimate-change

7.3 FISH & WILDLIFE HABITAT CONSERVATION AREAS

7.3.1 General

- Azous, A. & Horner, R. (2000). *Wetlands and Urbanization: Implications for the Future.* CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420032888
- Baker, M.E., Weller, D.E. & Jordan, T.E. (2006). Improved methods for quantifying potential nutrient interception by riparian buffers. *Landscape Ecology*, *21*, 1327-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-006-0020-0</u>
- Bernal, S., Sabater, F., Butturini, A., Nin, E. & Sabater, S. (2007). Factors limiting denitrification in a Mediterranean riparian forest. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 39*(10), 2685-2688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.04.027</u>
- Blanco-Canqui, H., Gantzer, C.J., & Anderson, S.H. (2006). Performance of grass barriers and filter strips under interrill and concentrated flow. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 35(6), 1969–1974. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2006.0073</u>
- Bolton, S. & Shellberg, J. (2001). *Ecological Issues in Floodplains and Riparian Corridors.* Washington State Transportation Center, University of Washington. <u>https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/research/reports/fullreports/524.1.pdf</u>
- Booth, D.B., Hartley, D. & Jackson, R. (2002). Forest cover, impervious surface area, and the mitigation of stormwater impacts. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 38*(3), 835-845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2002.tb01000.x</u>
- Brosofske, K.D., Chen, J.Q, Naiman, R.J. & Franklin J.F. (1997). Harvesting effects on microclimatic gradients from small streams to uplands in Western Washington. *Ecological Applications, 7*(4), 1188-1200. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2641207</u>
- Bury, R.B., (2008). Low thermal tolerances of stream amphibians in the Pacific Northwest: Implications for riparian and forest management. *Applied Herpetology, 5*(1), 63-74. https://doi.org/10.1163/157075408783489211

- Caliman, F.A. & Gavrilescu, M. (2009). Pharmaceuticals, personal care products and endocrine disrupting agents in the environment—a review. *Clean Soil Air Water, 37*(4-5), 277-303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/clen.200900038</u>
- Castelle, A.J. & Johnson, A.W. (1998). Riparian vegetation effectiveness. In *Abstracts from the Salmon in the City conference*. Center for Urban Water Resources Management, University of Washington.
- Cuo, L., Lettenmaier, D.P., Alberti, M. & Richey, J.E. (2009). Effects of a century of land cover and climate change on the hydrology of the Puget sound basin. *Hydrology Process* 23(6), 907-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.7228</u>
- Dale, V.H., Brown, S., Haeuber, R.A., Hobbs, R.J., Huntly, N., Naiman, R.J., Riebsame, W.E., Turner, M.G., & Valone, T.J. (2000). Ecological principles and guidelines for managing the use of land. *Ecological Applications*, *10*(3), 639-670. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2641032</u>
- Dietrich, M. & Anderson, N.H. (1998). Dynamics of abiotic parameters, solute removal and sediment retention in summer-dry headwater streams of western Oregon. *Hydrobiologia*, *379*, 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003423016125</u>
- Dosskey, M.G., Hoagland, K.D. & Brandle, J.R. (2007). Change in filter strip performance over ten years. *Journal Soil Water Conservation, 62*(1), 21-32. <u>https://www.srs.fs.usda.gov/pubs/26942</u>
- Felipe-Lucia, M. R., Soliveres, S., Penone, C., Fischer, M., Ammer, C., Boch, S., Boeddinghaus, R. S., Bonkowski, M., Buscot, F., Fiore-Donno, A. M., Frank, K., Goldmann, K., Gossner, M. M., Hölzel, N., Jochum, M., Kandeler, E., Klaus, V. H., Kleinebecker, T., Leimer, S., Manning, P., & Allan, E. (2020). Land-use intensity alters networks between biodiversity, ecosystem functions, and services. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *117*(45), 28140–28149. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2016210117
- Fleeger, J. W., Carman, K.R. & Nisbet, R.M. (2003). Indirect effects of contaminants in aquatic ecosystems. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 317(1-3), 207-233. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1016/S0048-9697(03)00141-4
- Galbraith, R.V., MacIsaac, E.A., Macdonald, J., Stevenson, J. & Farrell, A.P. (2006). The effect of suspended sediment on fertilization success in sockeye (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) and

coho (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) salmon. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries & Aquatic Sciences*, 63(11), 2487-2494. https://doi.org/10.1139/f06-133

- Glasoe, S. & Christy, A. (2004). Literature Review and Analysis: Coastal Urbanization and Microbial Contamination of Shellfish Growing Areas. Puget Sound Action Team. Publication # PSAT 04-09.
- Gomi, T., Moore, R. D., & Dhakal, A.S. (2006). Headwater stream temperature response to clear-cut harvesting with different riparian treatments, coastal British Columbia, Canada. *Water Resources Research, 42*(8), W08437.
 https://doi.org/10.1029/2005WR004162
- Grant, S.C.H & Ross, A.S. (2002). Southern resident killer whales at risk: toxic chemicals in the British Columbia and Washington environment. *Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Science*, 2412, xii + 111.
- Heisler, J., Glibert, P., Burkholder, J., Anderson, D., Cochlan, W., Dennison, W., Gobler, C., Dortch, Q., Heil, C., Humphries, E., Lewitus, A., Magnien, R., Marshall, H., Sellner, K., Stockwell, D., Stoecker, D., & Suddleson, M. (2008). Eutrophication and harmful algal blooms: a scientific consensus. *Harmful Algae, 8*(1), 3-13.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2008.08.006
- Jin, C.X. & Romkens, M.J.M. (2001). Experimental studies of factors in determining sediment trapping in vegetative filter strips. *Transactions of the ASAE, 44*(2), 277-288. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.4689
- Kakade, A., Sharma, M., Salama, E., Zhang, P., Zhang, L., Xing, X., Yue, J., Song, Z., Nan, L.,
 Yujun, S., & Li, X. (2023). Heavy metals (HMs) pollution in the aquatic environment:
 Role of probiotics and gut microbiota in HMs remediation. *Environmental Research*,
 223, 115186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.115186</u>.
- Knutson, K.L. & Naef, V.L. (1997). *Management Recommendations for Washington's Priority Habitats: Riparian*. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. <u>https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/00029</u>
- Knutson, M.G., Richardson, W.B., Reineke, Gray, D.M., Parmelee, B.R., & Weick, S.E. (2004). Agricultural ponds support amphibian populations. *Ecological Applications 14*(3), 669-684.

https://umesc.usgs.gov/documents/publications/2004/knutson_b_2004.html

- Konrad, C.P., & Booth, D.B. (2005). Hydrologic changes in urban streams and their ecological significance. *American Fisheries Society Symposium*, 74, 157-177. <u>https://faculty.washington.edu/dbooth/Konrad%20and%20Booth%20AFS.pdf</u>
- Long, E. R., Dutch, M. Weakland, S., Chandramouli, B., & Benskin, J.P. (2013). Quantification of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, and perfluoroalkyl substances in the marine sediments of Puget Sound, Washington, USA. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 32(8), 1701-1710. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2281</u>
- Mayer, P.M., Reynolds, S., Canfield, T., & McCutchen, M. (2005). *Riparian Buffer Width, Vegetative Cover, and Nitrogen Removal Effectiveness: A Review of Current Science and Regulations*. EPA/600/R-05/118. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
 https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2019-02/documents/riparian-bufferwidth-2005.pdf
- Mayer, P.M., Reynolds, S.K., Marshall, J., McCutchen, D. & Canfield, T.J. (2007). Meta-analysis of nitrogen removal in riparian buffers. *Journal of Environmental Quality, 36*(4), 1172-1180. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2006.0462
- Monohan, C.E. (2004). *Riparian buffer function with respect to nitrogen transformation and temperature along lowland agricultural streams in Skagit County, Washington.* [Dissertation, University of Washington]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Moore, D., Gomi, T., & Hassan, M. (2005). Suspended sediment dynamics in small forest streams of the pacific northwest. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 41(4), 877-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2005.tb03775.x</u>
- Moore, R.D., & Wondzell, S.M. (2005). Physical hydrology and the effects of forest harvesting in the Pacific Northwest: A review. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 41*(4), 763-784. <u>https://www.fs.usda.gov/research/treesearch/27183</u>
- Murray, G.L.D., Edmonds, R.L. & Marra, J.L., (2000). Influence of partial harvesting on stream temperatures, chemistry, and turbidity in forests on the western Olympic Peninsula, Washington. *Northwest Science*, *74*(2), 151-164. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/2376/1065</u>
- Naiman, R.J., Decamps, H. & Pollock, M. (1993). The role of riparian corridors in maintaining regional biodiversity. *Ecological Applications* 3(2), 209-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1941822</u>

- Oneal, A. & Rotenberry, J. (2009). Scale-dependent habitat relations of birds in riparian corridors in an urbanizing landscape. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *92*(3-4), 264-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2009.05.005
- O'Neill, S.M., West, J.E., & Hoeman, J.C. (1998). Spatial Trends in the Concentration of Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs) in Chinook (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) and Coho Salmon (O. kisutch) in Puget Sound and Factors Affecting PCB Accumulation: Results from the Puget Sound Ambient Monitoring Program. Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. <u>https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/01031</u>
- Parkyn, S. (2004). *Review of Riparian Buffer Zone Effectiveness*. Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. MAF Technical Paper No: 2004/05. https://gwrc.govt.nz/assets/Documents/2022/05/10.1.1.74.742.pdf
- Pollock, M., Jordan, C., Bouwes, N., Wheaton, J., Volk, C., Weber, N., Hall, J., & Goldsmith, J. (2013). Working with Beaver to Restore Salmon Habitat. U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Technical Memorandum NMFS-NWFSC-120.
 https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/4248
- Pollock, M., Pess, G., Beechie, T., & Montgomery. D. (2004). The importance of beaver ponds to coho salmon production in the Stillaguamish River basin, Washington, USA. *American Journal of Fisheries Management, 24*, 749-760.
 https://storm.ess.washington.edu/grg/publications/pdfs/Pollock.pdf
- Polyakov, V., Fares, A., & Ryder, M. (2005). Precision riparian buffers for the control of nonpoint source pollutant loading into surface water: A review. *Environmental Reviews*, *13*(3), 129-144. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/envirevi.13.3.129</u>
- Poole, G.C. & Berman. C.H. (2001). An ecological perspective on in-stream temperature: Natural heat dynamics and mechanisms of human-caused thermal degradation. *Environmental Management 27*, 787-802. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s002670010188</u>
- Poor, C. & McDonnell, J. (2007). The effects of land use on stream nitrate dynamics. *Journal of Hydrology*, *332*(1-2), 54-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.06.022</u>
- Quinn, T., Wilhere, G.F. & Krueger, K.L. (2020). *Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 1: Science synthesis and management implications*. Habitat Program, Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. <u>https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/01987</u>

Revised Code of Washington (RCW). https://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/

- Reichenberger, S., Bach, M., Skitschak, A., & Frede, H.G. (2007). Mitigation strategies to reduce pesticide inputs into ground- and surface water and their effectiveness; A review. *Science and the Total Environment, 384*(1-3), 1-35.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.04.046
- Relyea, R.A. (2005). The lethal impact of Roundup® on aquatic and terrestrial amphibians. *Ecological Applications, 15(4)*, 1118-1124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1291</u>
- Rentz, R., Windrope, A., Folkerts, K., & Azerrad, J. (2020). *Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 2: Management Recommendations*. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. <u>https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/01988</u>
- Ross, P.S., Ellis, G.M., Ikonomou, M.G., Barrett-Lennard, L.G., & Addison, R.F. (2000). High PCB concentrations in free-ranging pacific killer whales, *Orcinus orca*: Effects of age, sex and dietary preference. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 40*(6), 504-515.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(99)00233-7
- Sheldon, D., Hruby, T., Johnson, P., Harper, K., McMillan, A., Granger, T., Stanley, S. & Stockdale, E. (2005). Wetlands in Washington State, Vol. 1: A Synthesis of the Science. Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication #05-06-006.
 <u>https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/0506006.pdf</u>
- Simenstad, C., Logsdon, M., Fresh, K., Shipman, H, Dethier, M., & Newton, J. (2006).
 Conceptual model for assessing restoration of Puget Sound nearshore ecosystems. Washington Sea Grant Program, University of Washington, Seattle. Puget Sound
 Nearshore Partnership Report No. 2006-03.
 https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/02201
- Sobota, D. J., Johnson, S.L., Gregory, S.V. & Ashkenas, L.R. (2012). A Stable Isotope Tracer
 Study of the Influences of Adjacent Land Use and Riparian Condition on Fates of
 Nitrate in Streams. *Ecosystems*, *15*, 1-17.
 https://www.fs.usda.gov/pnw/pubs/journals/pnw_2012_sobota.pdf
- Soranno, P.A., Hubler, S.L., Carpenter, S.R. & Lathrop, R.C. (1996). Phosphorus loads to surface waters: A simple model to account for spatial pattern of land use. *Ecological Applications, 6*(3): 865-878<u>. https://doi.org/10.2307/2269490</u>

- Thompson, D.G., Wojtaszek, R.C., Staznik, D.T., & Stephenson, G.R. (2004). Chemical and biomonitoring to assess potential acute effects of Vision® herbicide on native amphibian larvae in forest wetlands. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 23*(4), 843-849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1897/02-280</u>
- Tian, Z., Gonzalez, M., Rideout, C.A., Zhao, H.N., Hu, X., Wetzel, J., Mudrock, E., James, C.A., McIntyre, J.K., & Kolodziej, E.P. (2022). 6PPD-quinone: Revised toxicity assessment and quantification with a commercial standard. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters 9*(2), 140-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.1c00910</u>
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). (2003). *EPA Region 10 Guidance for Pacific Northwest State and Tribal Temperature Water Quality Standards*. EPA 910-B-03-002. https://www.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/legacy/document/2020/Oct/EPA%20 %282003%29%20Guidance.pdf
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) (2007). *Aquatic Life Ambient Freshwater Quality Criteria – Copper*. EPA-822-R-07-001. <u>https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyNET.exe/P1000PXC.TXT</u>
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) (2015). *Copper-Free Brake Initiative*. https://www.epa.gov/npdes/copper-free-brake-initiative
- Wahl, T. R., Tweit, B., & Mlodinow, S. (Eds.) (2005). *Birds of Washington: Status and Distribution*. Oregon State University Press.

Washington Administrative Code (WAC). https://app.leg.wa.gov/WAc/default.aspx

- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). (2022). 6PPD in Road Runoff, Assessment and Mitigation Strategies. Publication No. 22-03-020. https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/2203020.pdf
- Wondzell, S. M., Lanier, J., Gomi, T., D'Amico, E., & Takahashi, T. (2009). Changes in hyporheic exchange flow following experimental wood removal in a small, lowgradient stream. *Water Resources Research*, 45(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2008WR007214</u>.
- Wynn, T. & Motsaghimi, S. (2006). The effects of vegetation and soil type on streambank erosion, southwestern Virginia, USA. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 42*(1), 69-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2006.tb03824.x</u>

- Yuan, Y.P., Bingner, R.L., & Locke, M.A. (2009). A review of effectiveness of vegetative buffers on sediment trapping in agricultural areas. *Ecohydrology*, 2(3), 321-336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.82</u>
- Zhang, X., Liu, X., Zhang, M., & Dahlgren, R.A. (2010). A review of vegetated buffers and a meta-analysis of their mitigation efficacy in reducing nonpoint source pollution. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 39, 76-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2008.0496</u>

7.3.2 Additional BAS

Rentz, R., Windrope, A., Folkerts, K., & Azerrad, J. (2020). *Riparian Ecosystems, Volume 2: Management Recommendations.* Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. <u>https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/01988</u>

7.3.3 Climate Change BAS

- Hansen, L.J., Nordgren, S.J., & Mielbrecht, E.E. (2016). Bainbridge Island Climate Impact Assessment. EcoAdapt. https://www.cakex.org/sites/default/files/documents/BICIA%20Final%2028%2 0July%202016.pdf
- Mauger, G.S., Casola, J.H., Morgan, H.A., Strauch, R.L., Jones, B., Curry, B., Busch Isaksen,
 T.M., Whitely Binder, L., Krosby, M.B. & Snover, A.K. (2015). *State of Knowledge: Climate Change in Puget Sound*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington,
 Seattle. <u>https://doi.org/10.7915/CIG93777D</u>
- Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe Natural Resources Department. (2017). *Climate Change Impact Assessment*. <u>https://nr.pgst.nsn.us/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/PGST_climate-impact-assessment_report_0518-FINAL.pdf</u>

7.4 GEOLOGICALLY HAZARDOUS AREAS

7.4.1 General

Booth D.B. (1990). Stream-channel incision following drainage-basin urbanization. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 26*(3), 407-417. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.1990.tb01380.x

- Booth, D. B. (1991). Urbanization and the natural drainage system impacts, solutions, and prognoses. *The Northwest Environmental Journal, 7*(1), 93-118. http://hdl.handle.net/1773/17032
- Booth, D.B., Hartley, D. & Jackson, R. (2002). Forest cover, impervious surface area, and the mitigation of stormwater impacts. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 38*(3), 835-845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2002.tb01000.x</u>
- Chleborad, Alan F. (1994). Modeling and analysis of the 1949 Narrows landslide, Tacoma, Washington. *Environmental & Engineering Geoscience, 31*(3), 305-327. https://doi.org/10.2113/gseegeosci.xxxi.3.305
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). (2015). Risk Report: For Kitsap County, including the Cities of Bremerton, Bainbridge, Port Orchard, Poulsbo, the Port Gamble S'Klallam Indian Reservation, the Suquamish Tribe, and Unincorporated Kitsap County. https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/gispublic/AppResources/SEA/RiskMAP/Kitsap/Kits ap_Project_Docs/Risk%20Report%20-%20Kitsap%20County%20-%20Final.pdf
- Kitsap County Department of Emergency Management (KCDEM). (2019). *Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan.* https://www.kitsapdem.com/wpcontent/uploads/2021/08/2019-multi-hazard-mitigation-plan-for-Kitsap-<u>County-WA.pdf</u>
- Naiman, R.J. & Decamps, H. (1997). The ecology of interfaces: riparian zones. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 28, 621-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.28.1.621</u>
- Nelson, E., & Booth D.B. (2002). Sediment budget of a mixed-use, urbanizing watershed. Journal of Hydrology, 264(1-4), 51-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(02)00059-</u><u>8</u>
- Revised Code of Washington (RCW). https://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/
- Savage, W.Z., Baum, R.L., Morrissey, M.M., & Arndt. B.P. (2000). *Finite-Element Analysis of the Woodway Landslide*, Washington. U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 2180. <u>https://pubs.usgs.gov/bul/b2180/b2180.pdf</u>
- Schmidt, K.M., Roering, J.J, Stock, J. D., Dietrich, W.E., Montgomery, D. R. & Schaub, T. (2001). The variability of root cohesion as an influence on shallow landslide susceptibility in

the Oregon Coast Range. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal, 38*(5), 995-1024. https://doi.org/10.1139/cgj-38-5-995

- Shipman, H. (2004). Coastal bluffs and sea cliffs on Puget Sound, Washington. In M.A. Hampton & G.B. Griggs (Eds.), *Formation, evolution, and stability of coastal cliffs—status and trends* (pp. 81-94). U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1693. <u>https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/0406029.pdf</u>
- Thorsen, G.W. (1987). Soil bluffs + rain = slide hazards. *Washington Geologic Newsletter,* 15(3), 3-11. Washington Department of Natural Resources, Division of Geology and . Earth Resources.

https://file.dnr.wa.gov/publications/ger_washington_geology_1987_v15_no3.pd f

Tubbs, D.W. (1974.) *Landslides in Seattle*. Department of Natural Resources, Division of Geology and Earth Resources, Information Circular 52. <u>https://www.dnr.wa.gov/Publications/ger_ic52_landslides_in_seattle.pdf</u>

Washington Administrative Code (WAC). https://app.leg.wa.gov/WAc/default.aspx

Watson, I., & Burnett, A. D. (1995). *Hydrology: An environmental approach*. CRC Press, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203751442

7.4.2 Additional BAS

SR 530 Landslide Commission. (2014). *The SR 530 Landslide Commission Final Report*. https://www.governor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/SR530LC_Final_Re port.pdf

7.4.3 Climate Change BAS

- Chleborad, A.F., Baum, R.L., & Godt, J.W. (2006). Rainfall Thresholds for Forecasting Landslides in the Seattle, Washington Area — Exceedance and Probability. U.S. Geological Survey. Open-File Report 2006-1064. <u>https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20061064</u>
- Dalton, M., Mote, P.W., & Snover, A.K. (2013). *Climate Change in the Northwest: Implications for our Landscapes, Waters, and Communities*. Island Press. <u>https://cig.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/12/daltonetal678.pdf</u>
- Kitsap County, City of Bremerton, & City of Port Orchard. (2020). *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment*.

https://www.kitsapgov.com/dcd/Kitsap_climate_assessment/KitsapCountyCli mateAssessment_June2020%20-%202%20Full%20Assessment%20LowRes.pdf

- Morgan, H., Mauger, G., Won, J., & Gould, D. (2021). *Projected Changes in Extreme Precipitation.* Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington, Seattle. <u>https://doi.org/10.6069/79CV-4233</u>
- Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR). (2020). Safeguarding Our Lands, Waters, and Communities: DNR's Plan for Climate Resilience. https://www.dnr.wa.gov/publications/em_climaterresilienceplan_feb2020.pdf

7.5 FREQUENTLY FLOODED AREAS

7.5.1 General

- Alberti, M., Booth, D., Hill, K., Coburn, B., Avolio, C., Coe, S., & Spirandelli, D. (2006). The impact of urban patterns on aquatic ecosystems: An empirical analysis in Puget lowland sub-basins. *Landscape and Urban Planning 80*(4), 345-361.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2006.08.001
- Booth D.B. (1990). Stream-channel incision following drainage-basin urbanization. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 26*(3), 407-417. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.1990.tb01380.x
- Booth, D.B., Hartley, D. & Jackson, R. (2002). Forest cover, impervious surface area, and the mitigation of stormwater impacts. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 38*(3), 835-845. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2002.tb01000.x
- Booth, D.B., Karr, J.R., Schauman, S. Konrad, C.P., Morley, S.A., Larson, M.G., & Burges, S.J. (2004). Reviving urban streams: Land use, hydrology, biology, and human behavior. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association 40*(5), 1351-1364. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2004.tb01591.x

Dunne, T., & Leopold, L.B. (1978). Water in Environmental Planning. W.H. Freeman.

Gurnell, A., Klement, T., Edwards, P., & Petts, G. (2005). Effects of deposited wood on biocomplexity of river corridors. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *3*(7), 377-382. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0377:EODWOB]2.0.CO;2

Knighton, D. (1998). *Fluvial Forms and Processes: A New Perspective*. Oxford University Press.

Naiman, R.J. & Decamps, H. (1997). The ecology of interfaces: riparian zones. *Annual Review* of Ecology and Systematics, 28, 621-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.28.1.621</u>

Washington Administrative Code (WAC). https://app.leg.wa.gov/WAc/default.aspx

7.5.2 Additional BAS

- National Floodplain Functions Alliance (NFFA) and Wetland Mapping Consortium (WMC). (2023). *Strategies and Action Plan for Protecting and Restoring Wetland and Floodplain Functions*. <u>https://www.nawm.org/strategies-and-an-action-plan-for-protecting-and-restoring-wetland-and-floodplain-functions</u>
- U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Fisheries, & The Nature Conservancy. (2013). *Geomorphic floodplains and the use of process domains to guide restoration strategy*. <u>https://www.rrnw.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/20138_9_Wallick_RRNW_2013.pdf</u>
- Wald, A. (2009). High Flows for Fish and Wildlife in Washington. Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. <u>https://wdfw.wa.gov/sites/default/files/publications/00578/wdfw00578.pdf</u>
- Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR). (n.d.). *Washington Geologic* Information Portal. <u>https://geologyportal.dnr.wa.gov/</u>

7.5.3 Climate Change BAS

- Bell, J.E., S.C. Herring, L. Jantarasami, C. Adrianopoli, K. Benedict, K. Conlon, V. Escobar, J. Hess, J. Luvall, C. Pérez García-Pando, D. Quattrochi, J. Runkle, & C.J. Schreck, III. (2016). Ch. 4: Impacts of extreme events on human health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, 99-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/J0BZ63ZV</u>
- Climate Central. (2016). Sea level rise and coastal flood exposure: Summary for Kitsap County, WA. http://ssrf.climatecentral.org.s3-website-us-east-1.amazonaws.com/Buffer2/states/WA/downloads/pdf_reports/County/WA_Kits ap_County-report.pdf
- Kitsap County, City of Bremerton, & City of Port Orchard. (2020). *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment*.

https://www.kitsapgov.com/dcd/Kitsap_climate_assessment/KitsapCountyCli mateAssessment_June2020%20-%202%20Full%20Assessment%20LowRes.pdf

Kitsap County Department of Emergency Management (KCDEM). (2019). *Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan.* <u>https://www.kitsapdem.com/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/08/2019-multi-hazard-mitigation-plan-for-Kitsap-</u> <u>County-WA.pdf</u>

- Kitsap County Department of Emergency Management (KCDEM). (2020). *Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan*. https://www.kitsapdem.com/wpcontent/uploads/2021/08/2020-Kitsap-County-Comprehensive-Emergency-Management-Plan.pdf
- Mauger, G.S., Casola, J.H., Morgan, H.A., Strauch, R.L., Jones, B., Curry, B., Busch Isaksen, T.M., Whitely Binder, L., Krosby, M.B. & Snover, A.K. (2015). *State of Knowledge: Climate Change in Puget Sound*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington, Seattle. <u>https://doi.org/10.7915/CIG93777D</u>
- Mauger, G.S., & Kennard, H.M. (2017). *Integrating Climate Resilience in Flood Risk Management: A Work plan for the Washington Silver Jackets*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington, Seattle. <u>https://doi.org/10.7915/CIG7MP4WZ</u>
- Mote, P., & Salathe, E. (2010). Future climate in the Pacific Northwest. *Climatic Change, 102*, 29-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-010-9848-z
- Talbot, C.J., Bennett, E.M., Cassell, K., Hanes, D., Minor, E., Paerl, H., Raymond, P., Vargas, R., Vidon, P., Wollheim, W., & Xenopoulos, P. (2018). The impact of flooding on aquatic ecosystem services. *Biogeochemistry 141*, 439–461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-018-0449-7</u>
- Washington State Department of Commerce (Commerce). (2023). *Critical Areas Handbook*. https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/rlysjrfvrxpxwnm9jvbcd3lc7ji19ntp
- Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). (2021). Comprehensive Planning for Flood Hazard Management: A Guidebook. Publication no. 21-06-019. https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/2106019.pdf

7.6 CRITICAL AQUIFER RECHARGE AREAS

7.6.1 General

Driscoll, F.G. (1986). Groundwater and Wells. Second edition. Johnson Screens.

Dunne, T. & Leopold, L. B. (1978). Water in Environmental Planning. W.H. Freeman.

- Jones, J.L., Johnson, K.H., & Frans, L.M. (2016). *Numerical Simulation of Groundwater Flow at Puget Sound Naval Shipyard, Naval Base Kitsap, Bremerton, Washington.* U.S. Geological Survey. Open-File Report 2016-1135. https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20161135
- Kitsap Public Utility District. (1997). *Kitsap County Initial Basin Assessment.* Open File Technical Report No. 97-04. https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/9704.pdf
- Morgan, L. (2005). *Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance*. Washington State Department of Ecology. Publication 05-10-028. https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/0510028.pdf
- Senior, L. A., Cinotto, P. J., Conger, R. W., Bird, P. H., & Pracht, K. A. (2005). Interpretation of geophysical logs, aquifer tests, and water levels in wells in and near the North Penn Area 7 Superfund site, Upper Gwynedd Township, Montgomery County, Pennsylvania, 2000-02. U.S. Geological Survey. Scientific Investigations Report 2005-5069. https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20055069
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). (1995). *Benefits and Costs of Prevention: Case Studies of Community Wellhead Protection*. <u>https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/20001U4L.PDF?Dockey=20001U4L.PDF</u>
- Wang, A. Y., Hu, G., Lai, P., Xue, B., & Fang, Q. (2022). Root-zone soil moisture estimation based on remote sensing data and deep learning. *Environmental Research, 212*(Part B), 113278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113278</u>

Washington Administrative Code (WAC). <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/WAc/default.aspx</u>

Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). (2021). Draft Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance. Publication No. 05-10-028. https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/0510028

- Washington State Department of Health (DOH). (2017). *Washington State Wellhead Protection Program Guidance Document*. DOH 331-018. <u>https://doh.wa.gov/sites/default/files/legacy/Documents/Pubs//331-018.pdf</u>
- Welch, W.B., Frans, L.M., & Olsen, T.D. (2014). *Hydrogeologic Framework, Groundwater Movement, and Water Budget of the Kitsap Peninsula, West-Central Washington*. U.S. Geological Survey. Scientific Investigations Report 2014-5106. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20145106</u>
- Winter, T.C., Harvey, J.W., Franke, O.L., & Alley, W.M. (1998) Ground Water and Surface Water A Single Resource. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1139. <u>https://pubs.usgs.gov/circ/circ1139</u>

7.6.2 Additional BAS

Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). (2021). Draft Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance. Publication No. 05-10-028. https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/0510028

7.6.3 Climate Change BAS

Asinas, E., Raymond, C., & Mehta, A. (2022). *Integrating Climate Resilience into Washington State Water System Planning*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington, Seattle.

https://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/bitstream/handle/1773/4947 1/2022%20Integrating%20Climate%20Resilience%20into%20WSPs%20in%20W A.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y]

Kitsap County, City of Bremerton, & City of Port Orchard. (2020). *Kitsap County Climate Change Resiliency Assessment*. <u>https://www.kitsapgov.com/dcd/Kitsap_climate_assessment/KitsapCountyCli</u> <u>mateAssessment_June2020%20-%202%20Full%20Assessment%20LowRes.pdf</u>

- Mauger, G.S., Casola, J.H., Morgan, H.A., Strauch, R.L., Jones, B., Curry, B., Busch Isaksen,
 T.M., Whitely Binder, L., Krosby, M.B. & Snover, A.K. (2015). *State of Knowledge: Climate Change in Puget Sound*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington,
 Seattle. <u>https://doi.org/10.7915/CIG93777D</u>
- May, C., Luce, C., Casola, J., Chang, M., Cuhaciyan, J., Dalton, M., Lowe, S., Morishima, G., Mote, P., Petersen, A., Roesch-McNally, G., & York, E. (2018). Chapter 24: Northwest.

In Reidmiller, D.R., Avery, C.W., Easterling, D.R., Kunkel, K.E., Lewis, K.L.M., Maycock, T.K. & B.C. Stewart (Eds.), *Fourth National Climate Assessment* (pp. 1036-1100). U.S. Global Change Research Program. <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/NCA4.2018.CH24</u>

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). (n.d.). *Climate Impacts on Water Utilities*. https://www.epa.gov/arc-x/climate-impacts-water-utilities

Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). (2021). *Draft Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance*. Publication No. 05-10-028. <u>https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/0510028</u>